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K EY  F I G U R E S

KEY FIGURES

1/1 - 6/30/2021 1/1 - 6/30/2020 Change

Consolidated revenues 1, 2 in EUR millions 1,309.5 1,018.0 29%

Consolidated revenues (annualized) 1, 2 in EUR millions 2,736.1 1,989.3 38%

EBITDA 1, 2 in EUR millions 90.2 187.6 -52%

Consolidated profit/loss 1, 3 in EUR millions 30.3 115.4 -74%

Earnings per share

basic 1, 2 in EUR 0.53 3.54 -85%

diluted 1, 2 in EUR - / - 3.31 - / -

Cash flows from operating activities 1 in EUR millions 84.6 25.4 >100%

Cash flows from investing activities 1 in EUR millions -49.5 -6.4 <-100%

Free cash flow 1 in EUR millions 35.1 19.0 85%

6/30/2021 12/31/2020 Change

Assets in EUR millions 2,164.7 2,307.9 -6%

of which cash and cash equivalents in EUR millions 272.1 422.9 -36%

Liabilities in EUR millions 1,664.5 1,815.9 -8%

of which financial liabilities in EUR millions 262.3 386.7 -32%

Equity 3 in EUR millions 500.2 492.0 2%

Equity ratio 3 in % 23.1 21.3 8%

Employees at the reporting date 2 12,609 12,059 5%
1  The prior-year consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of cash flows were adjusted for 

 c omparison purposes according to the provisions set forth under IFRS 5.
2  From continued operations.
3 Including non-controlling interests.
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L E T T E R  TO  S H A R E H O L D E R S 

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS 

Dear shareholders, employees and friends of our company,

after one year, we are all a little tired of the coronavirus pandemic. Despite having been eased again, anti-corona-
virus measures continue to restrict normal life. Not only that, but people are still having to contend with an 
uncertain outlook for the economy and jobs. New, still more contagious virus variants are clouding the future 
even as the vaccine supply continues to improve. The economic recovery varies widely from country and country 
and from sector to sector, reflecting the varying degrees of disruptions and government support in the corona-
virus pandemic. According to the experts of the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the outlook for the economy 
 depends not only on the outcome of the battle against the virus, but also the degree to which governments’ 
 economic policies can succeed in averting or at least minimizing permanent economic harm from this unprece-
dented crisis. After the dramatic collapse of the global economy last year, however, the IMF expects economic 
growth of six percent for the world economy and around five percent for the industrialized nations in 2021.

For AURELIUS as well, the crisis is not yet over. We expect further market disruptions in the coming months. 
 However, this situation will also give rise to attractive opportunities for additional acquisitions, including both 
platform investments and strategic add-on acquisitions to strengthen our existing portfolio companies, which is 
something we are particularly focused on. At the same time, we will keep a close eye on the market environments 
of our portfolio companies, so that we can react flexibly to any changes that occur.

AURELIUS has weathered the crisis very well so far. Thanks to the intensive support of our experienced operational 
experts, we have been able to minimize the effects of the pandemic on our portfolio companies. Thus, the already 
good operating results of the first quarter were surpassed in the second quarter. We were therefore able to pay a 
total dividend of EUR 28.7 million or EUR 1.00 per share to our shareholders in May 2021 for the 2020 financial year, 
and expect to pay rising dividends in the coming years. Buoyed by good corporate news and positive analyst 
 commentaries, our share price increased by 48 percent in the first half of 2021, reflecting the company’s positive 
performance. 

Consolidated revenues rose by 29 percent to approximately EUR 1.3 billion in the reporting period, primarily due to 
new acquisitions since the second half of 2020. The operating EBITDA of the combined Group increased by an even 
wider margin to EUR 122.4 million (H1 2020: EUR 75.3 million), as a further confirmation of the positive operating 
performance of the Group companies. At EUR 90.2 million, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortization (EBITDA) from continued operations were less than the comparison figure (H1 2020: EUR 187.6 mil-
lion), mainly due to the lower bargain purchase gains compared to the year-ago period, in the amount of EUR 0.6 
million (H1 2020: EUR 145.0 million). Additional explanations of the Group’s results can be found in this half-year 
report starting on page 62.

Beginning in the first half of 2021, we strategically broadened the investment focus of AURELIUS, which now rests 
on three pillars: platform investments, add-on acquisitions and co-investments. Platform investments provide an 
excellent basis for strategic reorientation based on organic growth. Strategic add-on acquisitions serve to 
strengthen the existing portfolio companies by generating additional profitable growth. Our focus on the intrin-
sic value of target companies and our strong operational and financial resources enable us to make highly attrac-
tive investments particularly in times of crisis. Moreover, the instrument of co-investments together with the 
newly launched AURELIUS European Opportunities Fund IV enables us to conduct larger transactions and thus 
further broaden our investment spectrum. 
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L E T T E R  TO  S H A R E H O L D E R S 

The equity portfolio of AURELIUS was enlarged by seven new company acquisitions in the period up to the date of 
this report. Besides three add-on acquisitions and two platform investments, two co-investments were also com-
pleted. After the sales of Office Depot Europe businesses in Italy and the United Kingdom, which were already 
completed in the first quarter, negotations are currently being conducted with various investors to sell the 
 remaining activities of Office Depot Europe as part of the strategic decision to consolidate the businesses. 

Moreover, our acquisition pipeline is well-filled for the second half of 2021. We also expect to complete some 
 initial, smaller company sales by the end of the 2021 financial year. 

These transactions are an expression of the transparency and governance initiative we launched in the previous 
year, as well as the confidence that market participants place in us. This initiative aims to create more efficient 
governance and oversight by means of a new management structure, and to ensure greater transparency by 
 reporting not only revenues and earnings, but also other key indicators such as net asset value in greater detail. In 
the future, AURELIUS will additionally publish a quarterly report including a consolidated income statement and 
a consolidated statement of financial position for the first and third quarters. Another important aspect of this 
 initiative was the conversion of Executive Board compensation to co-investment shares and stock options.

The coronavirus pandemic has upended the entire world economy. Markets are in turmoil and many companies 
are experiencing extreme disruptions. Such conditions often prompt a change of strategy that can culminate 
in  complete withdrawal from markets or spin-offs of entire business divisions. For this reason, we see great 
 potential for the business model of AURELIUS and therefore take a positive view of the future. We anticipate a 
substantial increase in transaction activity and are highly confident that we will be able to report new acquisi-
tions,  including both add-on acquisitions and platform investments, in the near future. We are also investing in 
our employees and steadily adding to our team of experts.

Business success in challenging times like these is always a team accomplishment. We therefore wish to thank all 
employees of our group for their dedication and you, our shareholders, for the trust you have placed in us.

Sincerely yours

Matthias Täubl  Fritz Seemann 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)  Managing Director 
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N E T  A S S E T  VA L U E
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NET ASSET VALUE OF THE GROUP COMPANIES

in EUR millions June 30, 2021*  

Industrial Production 468.4

Retail & Consumer Products 383.6

Services & Solutions 114.9

NAV of the portfolio companies 966.9

Other 174.8

Co-Investments 3.3

Total 1,145.0
* The presented Net Asset Values of the Group companies are stated on the basis of the percentage of equity held by AURELIUS.

The valuation was carried out using a discounted cash flow model based on the budgets of the Group compa-
nies for the next three years (2021 to 2023) that have been approved by the Board of Directors and the forecasts 
of the portfolio companies prepared for the current year. The Valuation Guideline of AURELIUS follows the 
 recommendations of the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines (IPEV) in the 
version of December 2018 and the additional guidelines published in March 2020 in relation to the current 
Covid-19 pandemic insofar as they are compatible with IFRS. The IPEV Guidelines are not mandatory, but re-
present a summary of customary market valuation practices in the private equity sector.

The budgets were prepared at the level of the Group’s portfolio companies in the period from August to 
 October 2020 (bottom-up planning) and coordinated with Corporate Controlling. The budgets include plans for 
income and expenses and balance sheet items for each company. When assessing the companies’ budgets, it 
must be taken into account that some of the Group companies are still undergoing major changes and that the 
financial forecasts for these companies are generally subject to a higher level of uncertainty.

The growth rates assumed for the period following this detailed planning period have been set uniformly at 
0.5  percent. The underlying discount rates (WACC, Weighted Average Cost of Capital) ranging from 7.35 to 
15.26 percent as of June 30, 2021 were calculated on the basis of individual peer groups. Where appropriate, risk 
premiums were added to the capital costs to account for the respective restructuring phase. The peer groups 
were determined at the time of the corporate group’s initial consolidation with the aid of data from Capital IQ, 
an IT platform of the rating agency Standard & Poor’s, and audited as part of the initial consolidation process. 
The input parameters (beta or debt ratio, for example) of the individual peer groups, as well as the additional 
data (e.g. government bonds) used for the determination of the WACCs, were likewise obtained from Capital IQ. 
The peer groups remain unchanged during the period in which the entity belongs to AURELIUS, as a general 
rule.

The exchange-listed subsidiary HanseYachts AG was valued on the basis of the Group’s share of the company’s 
market capitalization at the reporting date of June 30, 2021 and, in contrast to the segment reporting, is 
 included in the Industrial Production segment.

As a simplification, the value of the Other sector is determined on the basis of the cash and cash equivalents of 
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA and the individual holding companies that were not yet included 
in the NAV calculations for the portfolio companies. The treasury shares of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & 
Co. KGaA and a brand company valued by application of a discounted cash flow model are also applied for this 
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purpose. In addition, the loan receivables that are deducted from the NAV of the portfolio companies are 
 eliminated. The nominal amount of the corporate bonds (Nordic Bond) is likewise eliminated.

Therefore, all net asset values correspond to a so-called equity value, i.e. after deduction of net financial 
 liabilities, on the basis of a DCF method.

If a Group company of AURELIUS has been newly acquired and has therefore belonged to the Group for less 
than six months, only the purchase prices are included in the NAV calculation because the budget process has 
not yet been completed and stand-alone budgets prepared by the new subsidiary are not yet available in the 
brief time during which it has belonged to the Group.

In the first half of 2021, the investment focus of AURELIUS was expanded to include larger transaction volumes, 
which are within the framework of the newly launched co-investment programme. The acquisitions made as 
part of the programme are recognised as co-investments under financial assets in the consolidated balance 
sheet. balance sheet. As AURELIUS does not exercise control within the meaning of IFRS 10 for any of the 
 co- investments, they are not (fully) consolidated. In the overview of the net asset value, the co-investments are 
shown with the corresponding shareholding of AURELIUS, taking into account all the aforementioned valuation 
principles. principles. If a company is newly acquired by AURELIUS within the framework of the co-investment 
programme and therefore has a period of ownership of less than six months, only the respective purchase 
prices are included in the NAV.
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GROUP INTERIM MANAGEMENT REPORT OF  
AURELIUS EQUITY OPPORTUNITIES SE & CO. KGaA

Reports from the Group companies

The following comments reflect developments in the individual corporate groups (subsidiaries) that are fully 
 consolidated in the AURELIUS Group. At the reporting date of June 30, 2021, the AURELIUS Group consisted of 
26 operating groups classified as continued operations of AURELIUS: 

Group company Industry Segment Head Office

HanseYachts Manufacturer of sailing yachts 
and catamarans

Other Greifswald, Germany

CalaChem Producer of fine chemicals Industrial Production Grangemouth, UK
Briar Chemicals Producer of specialty chemicals Industrial Production Norwich, UK
 Hammerl Manufacturer of construction films 

and consumables
Industrial Production Gemmrigheim, Germany

VAG Supplier of water valves for water 
infrastructure

Industrial Production Mannheim, Germany

Zentia Producer of mineral fiber ceiling 
tiles and grid systems for modular 
suspended ceilings

Industrial Production Gateshead, UK

ZIM Aircraft Seating 
(formerly: ZIM Flugsitz)

Manufacturer of high-quality 
aircraft seats for commercial 
 passenger aircraft

Industrial Production Immenstaad, Germany

GKN Wheels & Structures Manufacturer of off-highway wheels Industrial Production Telford, UK
SEG Electronics Developer and producer of 

high-quality protection relays
Industrial Production Kempen, Germany

ConverterTec Manufacturer of converters and 
electronic components for the wind 
power industry

Industrial Production Kempen, Germany

HÜPPE Producer of shower enclosures, 
shower trays, wall panels and 
bathroom accessories

Industrial Production Bad Zwischenahn, 
 Germany

LD Didactic Provider of technical teaching 
 systems

Services & Solutions Hürth,Germany

AKAD University Distance learning university Services & Solutions Stuttgart, Germany
BPG Building Partners 
Group

Scaffold building and construction 
site services

Services & Solutions Berlin, Germany

Transform Hospital Group 
(formerly: Transform/ 
The Hospital Group)

Provider of surgical and non-surgical 
cosmetic procedures

Services & Solutions Manchester, UK

Rivus Fleet Solutions Vehicle fleet operator und provider 
of fleet management services

Services & Solutions Solihull, UK

Pullman Fleet Solutions Vehicle fleet operator and fleet 
management services

Services & Solutions Doncaster, UK

Scholl Shoes (formerly:  
Scholl Footwear)

Supplier of orthopedic and 
 comfort shoes

Retail & Consumer 
 Products

Milan, Italy

Conaxess Trade  Group Distributor of fast moving 
 consumer goods

Retail & Consumer 
 Products

Hvidovre, Denmark

European Imaging Group 
(formerly: Calumet Wex)

Multi-channel retail chain for 
 photo graphy equipment and 
 professional lighting systems

Retail & Consumer 
 Products

Norwich, UK
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Silvan `Do-It-Yourself´ retail-chain Retail & Consumer 
 Products

Aarhus, Denmark

Ideal Shopping Direct Multi-channel home shopping 
provider

Retail & Consumer 
 Products

Peterborough, UK

NDS Group Wholesaler of automotive parts Retail & Consumer 
 Products

Hagan, Norway

BMC Benelux Construction materials retail chain Retail & Consumer 
 Products

Brussels, Belgium

Nedis Importer and wholesaler of consu-
mer electronics and household 
appliances

Retail & Consumer 
 Products

‘s-Hertogenbosch,  
Netherlands

Distrelec Multi-channel trading company 
with focus on digital distribution 
and shipping of electronic parts and 
measuring instruments

Retail & Consumer 
 Products

Manchester, UK

 
In total, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA has included 315 subsidiaries in its consolidated finan-
cial statements. Immaterial equity interests and one associated company are accounted for as financial 
 instruments according to the definition set forth in IFRS 9.

AURELIUS completed the following acquisitions in the first half of 2021: 

In order to strengthen existing Group companies, AURELIUS completed three add on acquisitions. The Conaxess 
Trade Group acquired the Movement Group in March of the current financial year. Also in March 2021, BPG 
Building Partners Group acquired GSB Gerüstbau. AutoRestore was likewise acquired in March 2021 as an 
 affiliate of British Rivus Fleet Solutions. Hüppe GmbH, a leading European supplier of bathroom equipment, 
was acquired as a new platform investment late May 2021. 

In the first half of 2021, the investment focus of AURELIUS was expanded to include larger transaction vol-
umes to be acquired by way of the newly established co-investment program. The first such co-investment 
was the acquisition of Panasonic’s European consumer battery business (now: Advanced Power Solutions), 
which was completed in early June 2021. The acquisition of SSE Contracting Limited, a leading contractor 
for  mechanical engineering and electrical engineering services in the United Kingdom, from SSE plc. was 
completed end of June 2021. Both acquisitions are accounted for as co-investments within the line item of 
financial assets in the consolidated balance sheet. Because AURELIUS does not control any of the co-invest-
ments according to the definition of IFRS 10, these investments are not (fully) consolidated. 

The AURELIUS subsidiary Office Depot Europe sold its Italian business to the French investor group Bruneau 
in March 2021. The Contract business in the United Kingdom and Ireland was sold to the strategic buyer 
OT Group in June 2021. This transaction is expected to close in the third quarter of 2021.
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INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTION SEGMENT (IP)

Revenues from continued operations in the Industrial Production segment rose by 33 percent to EUR 353.3 million 
in the first half of 2021 (H1 2020: EUR 265.0 million). The revenue increase is mainly attributable to the new group 
companies GKN Wheels & Structures, ZIM Aircraft Seating (formerly: ZIM Flugsitz), Zentia, SEG Electronics and 
ConverterTec acquired in the 2020 financial year. HÜPPE, a leading European supplier of bathroom equipment, 
was acquired in late May 2021. 

The earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) of this segment amounted to EUR 34.5 
million (H1 2020: EUR 39.8 million). Segment earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) reached EUR 18.7 million 
(H1 2020: EUR 26.3 million). 

HANSEYACHTS

Company
HanseYachts, which has belonged to the AURELIUS Group since 2011, is the world’s second-biggest series manu-
facturer of sailing yachts with a hull length of 30 to 70 feet (10 to 21 meters) and is one of the world’s top-10 
producers of motorboats with a hull length of 30 to 54 feet (10 to 16 meters). In the segment of sailing yachts, 
the company produces the brands Hanse, Moody and Dehler and in the segment of motor yachts it produces 
the brands Fjord and Sealine. In addition, the company manufactures sailing and motor catamarans under the 
Privilège brand. The overall product portfolio comprises around 50 different models. It exports about 70 percent 
of its boats. The HanseYachts AG share is listed in the General Standard segment of the Frankfurt Stock 
 Exchange (ISIN: DE000A0KF6M8).

Structure and organization
HanseYachts AG is the parent company of the HanseYachts Group. It performs central holding company func-
tions and manages most of the group’s operating activities. The management team is composed of a CEO and a 
CFO/COO. Research and development and central marketing coordination, including the media and trade fair 
planning of HanseYachts, are performed at the location in Greifswald, which is a favorable production site with 
access to the Baltic Sea. Central procurement, overall sales management and administration are also performed 
there. Other production sites are located in Goleniów, Poland, which is about 170 km away from Greifswald, 
and in Les Sables-d’Olonne on the Atlantic coast of France, where Privilège-brand catamarans are produced. The 
company’s products are marketed worldwide by a network of more than 180 dealers in more than 45 countries.  

Market environment
The worldwide sailing and motor yacht market is subject to intense competition. There are many yacht manu-
facturers that produce single-digit to double-digit unit quantities per year. However, there are only few market 
participants in the world that industrially produce triple-digit quantities of yachts per year, like HanseYachts, 
and compete with HanseYachts globally.

Current developments
The general long-term trend of the global maritime market relevant for HanseYachts is one of modest growth. 
The company is currently encountering strong demand for its yachts particularly as a result of the worldwide 
COVID-19 pandemic. Seeking to spend less time in enclosed spaces and more time outdoors to escape the 
 pandemic and the related recommendations, people have come to appreciate the value of having their own 
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boat as a mobile safe haven for recreation and vacation. This trend has fueled an extremely high volume of 
new orders, well above the level of the year-ago period. The cancellation of boat shows does not seem to have 
induced purchasing restraint, although HanseYachts is not yet able to assess the long-term effects. The compa-
ny’s cost position has been favorably impacted by the digitalization of sales activities and a reduction of the 
number of boat shows, which means less travel activity for the company’s employees. On the other hand, the 
company’s cost position has been adversely affected by delayed deliveries of raw materials and accessory parts 
resulting from a worldwide disruption of supply chains and the organizational measures implemented in produc-
tion to protect employees against infection with variants of COVID-19.

Significant factors affecting business performance
The products of HanseYachts are luxury and recreational goods, the demand for which is mainly dependent on 
the current and expected economic situation of individual customers. Thus, changed macroeconomic conditions 
in key sales markets can influence the demand for the company’s products, despite the broad regional diversifica-
tion of the international dealer network. 

Comparable competing products, which are often marketed aggressively on the basis of price, also pose a general 
sales risk. The company counters this risk particularly by means of short development cycles and innovative 
products, but partially also by means of price discounts or improved features. In addition, the expansion of the 
product range, especially in the segment of motorboats marketed under the Fjord and Sealine brands, and 
catamarans under the Privilège brand, enables the company to target a wider group of customers and regions. 

In accordance with the seasonal nature of the company’s business, HanseYachts tends to generate a negative 
 result in the second half of the year (July 1 to December 31) and earns most of its profit in the first half (January 1 
to June 30).

Outlook 
Given the unpredictable development of the coronavirus pandemic, it is currently not possible to offer a reliable 
forecast of short-term or medium-term market trends. Considering all the positive and negative impacts of the 
coronavirus pandemic on its business, HanseYachts anticipates a slightly negative EBITDA for the 2020/2021 
 financial year. This expectation is particularly based on the production disruptions resulting from the corona-
virus pandemic and the supply chain problems that have persisted unexpectedly since April 2021. These prob-
lems have delayed boat deliveries which the company had originally planned to complete in the 2020/2021 
 financial year.

CALACHEM

Company
CalaChem is a producer of fine chemicals focusing on agrochemicals and specialty chemicals. Besides producing 
fine chemicals, CalaChem operates the Industrial Services unit for the adjacent Earls Gate industrial estate, pro-
viding services such as the treatment of industrial wastewater, the provision of process steam and the supply of 
electricity. CalaChem has belonged to the AURELIUS Group since 2010. 

Structure and organization
The company has its headquarters and its sole production facility in Grangemouth/Scotland. It operates in two 
segments: contract production of fine chemicals and the provision of industrial services. The management team 
is composed of six functional specialists under the direction of a Managing Director. 

G R O U P  I N T E R I M  M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O RT

REPORT OF TH E FI RST HALF YEAR  I  1 1



Market environment
Worldwide megatrends such as population growth and pressure on land use continue to support agrochemical 
industry growth. Moreover, the trend toward outsourcing chemical contract production continues to grow as 
this enables customers to lower their capital costs, work with a more flexible base of suppliers and free up 
 capacity for the development and production of new products.

Current developments
First half 2021 results were broadly in line with budget. The continuing COVID-19 pandemic is having only a minor 
effect on production output. However, the coronavirus pandemic is having an adverse effect on the revenue 
 contribution generated from industrial wastewater treatment. 

Significant factors affecting business performance
The demand for fine chemicals and the company’s business performance were in line with budget in the first half 
of 2021. The tenants at the Grangemouth site remained economically stable and rental income was therefore 
unchanged. CalaChem is currently building an energy-from-waste plant. Major milestones are expected in the 
second half of 2021. However, final commissioning is over a year away. This new development will strengthen 
CalaChem’s Industrial Services business unit by providing efficient, low-cost steam and electricity to the compa-
ny’s utility customers.

Outlook
The order book continues to be strong and 2021 is expected to end broadly in line with budget. As the UK starts to 
recover from the pandemic, industrial services activity, particularly including the treatment of industrial waste-
water, is expected to improve. CalaChem has also seen an increased interest in the leasing of on-site properties, 
which strengthens the view that the effects of the pandemic are gradually subsiding. 

BRIAR CHEMICALS

Company
Briar Chemicals is an independent contract manufacturer and producer of agrochemicals and fine chemicals. 
The company produces mainly chemical agents and intermediates for herbicides. AURELIUS purchased Briar 
Chemicals from Bayer CropScience in 2012.

Structure and organization
Headquartered in Norwich/United Kingdom, the company operates a production facility there, where it 
 produces various different chemicals. The management team is composed of a CEO and a highly qualified man-
agement team with extensive industry experience, enabling the company to seize opportunities in the market 
and support growth.

Market environment
Briar Chemicals operates in the market for outsourced agrochemicals production, the volume of which is 
 estimated at around USD seven billion. Thus, this market only represents about seven percent of the worldwide 
 agrochemical market. The outsourcing of chemical contract production continues to grow because it enables 
large chemical companies to lower their capital expenditures, work with a more flexible base of suppliers and free 
up their own capacities for the development and production of new products.
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The production capacities of Chinese manufacturers have declined due to the coronavirus pandemic as a short-
term effect and due to stricter environmental regulations as a longer-term effect. Some factories have since 
 re-opened and these capacities have increased again. However, this applies primarily to the market in Southeast 
Asia and Australia. Despite the intensified competition, sales of Briar Chemicals’ products have been steady to 
rising, especially in the North American and European markets.

Current developments
The efficiency of Briar Chemicals was improved in the first half of 2021 compared to the previous year and will 
be further strengthened in the future by means of operational and organizational changes. Despite the corona-
virus pandemic and Brexit effects, demand for the products of Briar Chemicals has remained strong although 
some supply chains have been disrupted, due in part to the worldwide shortage of shipping container capaci-
ties. Thanks to its mostly stable network of suppliers, Briar Chemicals has been able to deliver its products 
broadly on time.

Significant factors affecting business performance
Due to the ongoing coronavirus pandemic, the company was required to adjust its production processes and 
other processes to fulfil the new regulatory hygiene requirements. The effect of these adjustments on the com-
pany’s business performance has been insignificant thus far. As a producer of agrochemicals, the company has 
continued to operate during the lockdowns. The company has managed the heightened customs challenges 
 resulting from Brexit well thus far. 

Outlook
The outlook for Briar Chemicals is positive. Demand for the company’s main products remains strong and the 
agrochemical market is growing. All necessary measures have been taken within the company to preventively 
address the coronavirus pandemic and protect the safety of all employees and the operating business as best as 
possible. Consequently, the company can continue to focus completely on growth and investments in the future.

Based on the expected growth and the company’s clear focus on supply chain management (SCM),  
Briar Chemicals still expects to generate higher revenues and EBITDA in financial year 2021 compared to the pre-
vious year. This expectation is supported by the fact that the company’s business has so far not been adversely 
affected by Brexit.

HAMMERL

Company
Hammerl is a well-known manufacturer of construction films, dimpled sheet membranes and vapor barrier films. 
It has belonged to the AURELIUS Group since 2016.

Structure and organization
The company’s headquarters and production facility are located in Gemmrigheim. The company is managed by a 
CEO. 

Market environment
The construction industry has been heavily impacted in 2021 by the consequences of the coronavirus crisis, includ-
ing material shortages that have led to substantial price increases. Around 75 percent of all construction firms are 
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complaining of limited or even no availability of plastic products. This shortage is mainly due to reduced produc-
tion capacities in Asia for the raw materials used in plastic production. Asian producers account for slightly more 
than half of the world market for these materials. Large production facilities have been shut in the United States 
and Europe. The industry continues to struggle with the supply chain disruptions resulting from the shipping 
 accident in the Suez Canal. At the same time, the demand for plastic products in other industries such as the 
 automotive industry is picking up again. 

Current developments 
Hammerl has been heavily impacted by the effects of the coronavirus crisis in 2021. Although the current order 
backlog is more than four times higher than in the first half of last year, due in part to panic buying, the company’s 
operating profit has been adversely affected by extreme increases in prices for raw materials in the shortest time, 
reaching up to 80 percent in some categories. 

Significant factors affecting business performance
The company’s business activities are significantly influenced by raw material and energy prices. Price increases 
and discounts for plastic base materials must be passed on to customers in a competition-intensive and transpar-
ent market for a generic product. Both factors have a strong effect on revenues and temporarily also on earnings 
in case of fluctuations. Prices have been declining steadily in the last few years and fell even further in 2020 as a 
result of the coronavirus crisis. However, the first half of 2021 has been characterized by intense catch-up effects 
and over-compensation.  

Outlook
As expected, construction activity in 2021 has remained below the level of the previous year. For the first quar-
ter of 2021, the German Federal Statistical Office reported a 9.4 percent revenue decline for companies with 
more than 20 employees in the main construction trades. Whereas residential construction demand remains 
high, the demand for commercial construction is volatile. Commercial construction demand declined in March 
after positive signals in February. Panic buying poses a risk in that it could lead to reduced demand for con-
struction industry suppliers in the further course of the year.

Also in 2021, Hammerl expects to outperform the market thanks to the steady intensification of sales activities 
and anticipates growth over the previous year. Investments in production, energy and automation will further 
improve the company’s competitiveness with respect to material and energy efficiency and business processes.
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VAG

Company
VAG is a supplier of valves focused on water treatment and distribution, wastewater systems, dams and hydro-
electric power plants. VAG has belonged to the AURELIUS Group since November 2018. The company is active both 
in the production and distribution of standard products and in the global project business.

Structure and organization
Headquartered in Mannheim, VAG is managed by three managing directors. It has six production facilities in 
 Germany, Czech Republic, China, India, South Africa and the United States, as well as eight sales offices with sales 
in more than 100 countries. Fulfilling different regulatory requirements is critically important for VAG’s success. 
For this reason, the company has introduced processes that make it possible to mitigate the risks associated with 
a worldwide business and so ensure the company’s long-term success.

Market environment
The most important markets for VAG are Europe (especially Germany and Czech Republic), China, North America 
and the Middle East. The strategic goal of VAG is sustainable, profitable growth especially in these markets. In 
addition to its strong brand, VAG aims to differentiate itself by means of product and service features, particularly 
including on-time delivery and engineering expertise in complex valves. VAG is working hard to improve its com-
petitiveness in order to counter competition pressure also from suppliers in low-wage countries. An important 
lever in this endeavor is the use of the company’s network of production facilities.

Current developments 
The positive performance in the 2020 financial year continued in the first half of 2021. The initiated restructuring 
measures have been largely completed. Measures to increase customer focus, particularly in terms of on-time 
delivery and quality assurance, have been successfully implemented. At the same time, VAG has developed a 
strategy to ensure sustainable and profitable development in the medium term. 

VAG’s business performance was good in the first half despite the ongoing coronavirus pandemic. The order 
 intake and revenues generated in the first half are well above the levels of the first half of last year.

Significant factors affecting business performance
Besides the continuing coronavirus pandemic, the current supply chain disruptions and price increases for raw 
materials are also having a certain effect on VAG’s business activity. So far these effects have been largely 
 minimized by means of active management and by passing on unavoidable cost increases.  

Outlook
The company expects to continue its successful business performance and achieve its revenue and EBITDA  targets 
in the second half of 2021.
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ZENTIA

Company
Zentia has belonged to the AURELIUS Group since March 2020. Its business comprises the segments of mineral 
fiber ceiling tiles and grid systems for modular suspended ceilings, which were purchased from Knauf Interna-
tional. 

The products are mainly used in office buildings, schools and hospitals. The company’s broad portfolio of prod-
ucts reaches the market via specialized wholesalers. Regional sales teams cover the entire value chain to create 
market pull. They have Zentia specified for large-scale projects with architects, designers, acousticians and other 
specialists. They address direct customers (distributors) and support ceiling contractors. Zentia’s home base and 
core markets are the UK and Ireland. Zentia also conducts business in Spain, Portugal and the Baltic countries.

Structure and organization
The company’s headquarters and two production facilities are located in Gateshead/United Kingdom. Addition-
ally, Zentia maintains a distribution center in Spain’s capital Madrid. The senior management team is composed 
of four directors with many years of experience in the industry. 

Market environment
While the coronavirus crisis had a negative impact on construction activity in most countries, including the UK, in 
2020, the UK construction market proved to be resilient and recovered substantially in 2021. With the exception of 
Ireland, the construction sector was not required to shut down due to the coronavirus pandemic. The commercial 
real estate sector is still somewhat slower than in previous years, but public-sector construction activity has been 
solid.

Current developments 
Zentia is in the midst of implementing a multi-year investment program with a total value in  excess of EUR 30 
million. When the program is completed, the company should be able to manufacture all strategic products itself. 
Some core products are still being purchased from the Knauf Group despite the carve-out in 2020. The invest-
ment program is progressing according to plan and on schedule. In late 2020, Zentia initiated a withdrawal from 
the markets of Germany, Italy, Turkey and Austria, which were not contributing to the overall profitability of the 
business. Those country exits were completed in the first quarter of 2021.

Significant factors affecting business performance
Zentia implemented substantial restructuring measures in 2020 to reset its break-even point to a significantly 
lower level. The recovery of market demand beginning in April of the current financial year has enabled Zentia to 
stabilize its profitability significantly. Successful price increases in mineral fiber ceiling tiles and grids likewise 
contributed to a positive development of earnings although the grid business in particular is being affected by 
very substantial increases in the prices of raw materials (steel).  

Outlook
Zentia embraces the ambition to become the independent market leader for ceiling solutions in the UK and 
 Ireland. Under the umbrella term “The Zentia Way”, a number of additional initiatives have been launched to 
achieve the company’s most important strategic objectives. By means of these measures, the management 
 expects to continue on an ambitious growth path for both revenues and EBITDA. 
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Zentia plans to launch an ambitious program to activate innovation and new product development in the second 
half of 2021. Resources have been added internally and externally. This should further strengthen Zentia’s 
 market-leading position in the UK. The company is introducing innovations and employing Lean Six Sigma 
methods to promote continuous productivity improvement. The optimization of business models in regions 
that do not belong to the company’s core business will be continued with a view to achieving the company’s 
profitability objectives. The management is confident about the company’s prospects in the remainder of 2021. 

ZIM AIRCRAFT SEATING (FORMERLY: ZIM FLUGSITZ)

Company
ZIM Aircraft Seating (formerly: ZIM Flugsitz) which has belonged to the AURELIUS Group since February 2020, is 
a leading manufacturer of passenger aircraft seats. The company supplies leading airlines and aircraft manu-
facturers across the globe, including seats for newly built aircraft (line-fit) and new seats for overhauled  aircraft 
(retrofit).

Structure and organization
The company’s headquarters with more than 130 employees is located in Immenstaad on Lake Constance. In 
addition, ZIM operates a production facility in Markdorf on Lake Constance and a maintenance facility in Brüse-
witz, near Schwerin. The company is led by two managing directors. Compliance with far-reaching aviation 
regulations is critical for the success of ZIM Aircraft Seating as a globally active company in the aviation indus-
try. The company has therefore introduced and documented processes to meet the requirements of aviation 
law in order to ensure the company’s long-term success.

Market environment
Global passenger volume had grown steadily in the last few years before the outbreak of the coronavirus 
 pandemic in the first quarter of 2020. Passenger volume doubled from 2003 to 2018, according to aircraft 
 manufacturer Airbus. In its long-term forecast to 2039 published in late 2020, Boeing predicted a total need of 
around 43,000 commercial aircrafts by 2039.

However, the passenger aviation industry has been completely upended by the coronavirus pandemic. According 
to the April 2021 Air Passenger Market Analysis of the International Air Transport Association (IATA), worldwide air 
transport revenues declined by more than 60 percent from USD 838 billion in 2019 to USD 328 billion in 2020.

Current developments 
Reacting quickly to the new market situation, ZIM Aircraft Seating filed for debtor-in-possession bankruptcy in 
July 2020. Since the successful conclusion of the bankruptcy proceedings, in which the management together 
with the trustee, the creditors’ committee and the employees developed and implemented measures that will 
enable the company to be economically successful again, the company has successfully renegotiated all major 
contracts with customers and transferred them from bankruptcy to the new ZIM Aircraft Seating. Although the 
current level of orders has not yet reached the level from before the crisis, the company’s costs have been reduced 
as a result of the restructuring.  

Significant factors affecting business performance
According to Accenture’s Global Aerospace Report from April 2021, a substantial market recovery can be 
 expected in 2021. Depending on the development of travel restrictions related to the coronavirus pandemic, 
the market volume could return to a level of up to more than 50 percent of the 2019 level. In the key U.S. market, 
the market volume has improved considerably in the current third quarter compared to the year-ago period. 
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Delta Airlines expects that the U.S. market for vacation travel regained the pre-crisis already in June and also 
anticipates a substantial recovery of business travel. Lufthansa expects that business travelers will return to 
the air beginning in the third quarter of 2021 and estimates the medium-term demand drop in this segment at 
less than ten percent.

According to Accenture, revenues in the aircraft seating market will regain the pre-crisis level from 2019 in the 
best case already in 2023 and in the most probable case in 2024. 

Outlook
Given its focus on premium economy seats for top-quality airlines, the company believes that it will be very 
well positioned after the restructuring to emerge strengthened from the market crisis. Market observers view 
the premium economy segment in particular as a future growth segment because business travelers will be 
looking to optimize costs and demand for premium economy seats will grow. In the line-fit segment, the com-
pany is focused on smaller aircraft models such as the Airbus A220 and long-distance single-aisle aircraft. 
 Demand for such models is also expected to rise after the coronavirus crisis. 

GKN WHEELS & STRUCTURES

Company
GKN Wheels & Structures is a globally active supplier of wheels and structures for on-highway and off-highway 
applications. Its main products include premium-quality wheel rims, complete wheels and wheel suspensions for 
applications in the agricultural, mining and construction industries, developed in collaboration with the original 
equipment manufacturers (OEMs) (Wheels Division), which account for more than 80 percent of the company’s 
revenues. The company also manufactures structural parts such as complete chassis for construction vehicles or 
parts of car bodies or car axles. Customers of the Wheels Division include all well-known manufacturers of 
off-highway equipment. In the Structures Division, the company only cooperates with selected, likewise globally 
active OEMs. The company has belonged to AURELIUS since November 2020. 

Structure and organization
GKN Wheels & Structures operates one factory in England, one in Denmark and two in the United States. New 
developments and customer-specific tests are performed in two test centers in Italy and the United States. The 
company also operates an assembly line in the United States where tires are mounted to wheel rims. The man-
agement team is composed of a COO, an Engineering and Commercial Director, a Finance Director and three 
Directors for the United Kingdom, Denmark and the United States.

Market environment
Off-highway vehicles are generally subject to the market cycle for capital goods. In the agricultural segment, this 
cycle is somewhat moderated by the steady demand for agricultural products. This market segment exhibits 
modest growth of two to three percent per year. In the Structures Division, a certain seasonality with higher 
 demand in the first half of the year can be observed.

The company’s main competitors are primarily based in the United States. Companies from Asia and specifically 
India and China are increasingly pressing into the market with low-cost products. However, these products  cannot 
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meet the increasingly more specialized demands of vehicle manufacturers with regard to size, durability and sta-
bility. For this reason, these companies are not to be regarded as direct competitors of GKN Wheels & Structures. 
In the Structures Division, the company competes with various locally active contract manufacturers.

Current developments 
Like many capital goods industries, GKN Wheels & Structures is currently benefiting from a coronavirus pandemic 
catch-up effect and a general economic upswing. These factors have led to large order backlogs in all factories, 
especially in the United States. The order books are therefore completely filled for the second half of 2021 and in 
some cases also for the first quarter of 2022.  

The efforts made to improve on-time delivery and product quality are yielding initial successes. These efforts have 
significantly improved the company’s ratings among OEM customers so that GKN Wheels & Structures is now 
heavily involved in the commissioning of new products. 

Despite the revenue increase driven by the high volume of new orders, the company has only been able to par-
tially maintain its gross profit margin due to the development of steel prices, which have risen by more than 
50 percent in some cases in the last six months. These increases are passed on to customers, albeit with a delay. 
Also in the Structures Division, significant price increases have been agreed with customers and implemented in 
the first quarter of 2021. 

Significant factors affecting business performance
The further increase in steel prices, bottlenecks in the delivery of electronic components from Asia to the OEMs 
and the acquisition of new projects in the United States will have the greatest influence on the company’s busi-
ness performance in the second half of the year. The company has adapted the mechanisms for passing on steel 
prices to customers to the current developments of the underlying indices to a greater degree so that such price 
increases will not affect the profit margin as much in the coming months. Delivery bottlenecks particularly for 
semiconductor chips from Asia are forcing some of the company’s customers to temporarily close their factories 
despite high order backlogs. This has led to a temporarily reduced output on the part of GKN Wheels & Structures 
and a deferral of customer orders. 

By extending the sales team for the United States and Canada, the order intake in those countries has already 
risen by 20 percent. These orders will be filled in the second half of 2021. 

Outlook
The company continues to focus on the achievement of operational excellence. In addition, the first newly 
 acquired projects with significant order volumes should materialize in the second half of 2021. In order to handle 
the additional volume, the company will continue to hire new employees for its factories, especially in the United 
States. Moreover, equipment will be modernized to allow for higher output at a lower cost and enhance the qual-
ity of the products. In all its factories, GKN Wheels & Structures continues to work on efficiency enhancement 
both in order processing and execution and the reduction of material costs. 
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SEG ELECTRONICS

Company
SEG Electronics is a developer and producer of premium-quality protection relays in Germany, with more than 
350 customers worldwide. AURELIUS acquired SEG Electronics from the U.S. company Woodward, Inc. in April 
2020.

Structure and organization
Founded in 1969, SEG Electronics is headquartered in Kempen. It belonged to the U.S. Woodward Group from 
2006 to 2020. The company is led by a two-person management team. It offers its customers a broad range of 
protection relays used for the electrical protection of generators, transformers, motors, cables and overhead 
lines. As an independent supplier of protection relays, SEG Electronics has more than 50 years’ experience in 
high-voltage, medium-voltage and low-voltage applications.

Market environment
The market for protection relays is still growing steadily at a rate of around six percent per year, thanks to positive 
long-term trends such as electrification, decentralized and renewable energy generation, and electro-mobility. 
The company’s biggest customers are manufacturers of combustion engines, switchgear manufacturers, manu-
facturers of wind turbines and grid operators. SEG Electronics is a key player in the growing market for grid 
 connections for decentralized energy generation equipment.  

Current developments 
The rebranding to SEG Electronics was successfully completed after the acquisition in April 2020. The company 
successfully commissioned its own IT system in the second quarter of 2021. The addition of new in-house employ-
ees to the sales teams in Germany, the United States and India and a newly established marketing function are 
already having a positive impact on the company’s efforts to protect and increase its global revenues.

Significant factors affecting business performance
Thanks to the measures that have been implemented since the company was acquired by AURELIUS, the company 
has surpassed its budgeted revenue target. The expanded sales activities have had a positive effect on the EBITDA 
of SEG Electronics. Various optimization measures have shortened the cycle time of the production line for High-
PROTEC Line products by seven percent. Together with AURELIUS, the company continues to implement an 
 efficient, agile product development unit to ensure accelerated, market-driven product development. 

Outlook
Despite the shortage of materials in the world market, the 2021 outlook for SEG Electronics remains positive, with 
planned revenue growth at a rate in the middle single digits. Thanks to local production, customer wishes and the 
availability of materials can be managed flexibly and efficiently. The presentation of the new WI Line product line 
has generated highly positive feedback from core customers and will contribute to the attainment of the compa-
ny’s growth targets. Also in the remainder of 2021, increased demand for the company’s High-Tech Line protection 
devices is expected from Asia. 
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CONVERTERTEC

Company
ConverterTec is a manufacturer of converters and electronic components for the wind power industry (OEM) 
and a supplier of spare parts and service (Aftermarket & Service). The company has belonged to AURELIUS since 
April 2020.

Structure and organization 
ConverterTec has its origin in the company SEG, which was founded in 1969. It belonged to the U.S. Woodward 
Group from 2006 to 2020. The company is based in Kempen, Germany. ConverterTec also operates a production 
and development site in Krakow/Poland, and another development site in Sofia/Bulgaria. The Aftermarket & Ser-
vice Division is managed from the Kempen site and is staffed by employees from Kempen, Sofia, and the four 
service centers in the United States, Brazil, Japan and India. The company is led by a two-person management 
team. 

Market environment
The global market for wind energy is growing thanks to steadily falling costs compared to fossil fuel energy and 
government subsidy programs. Despite this long-term growth trend, it is a challenging market environment 
 because the amount of subsidies is declining and preference is increasingly being given to market-based incentive 
models. This trend has triggered consolidation among wind turbine manufacturers and increased price pressure 
for suppliers. In the Aftermarket & Service segment, ConverterTec benefits from the fact that its customers 
 typically receive guaranteed feed-in remuneration over the life of already built wind turbines and are therefore 
largely protected against economic and regulatory developments. That ensures stable and predictable revenues 
for ConverterTec. 

Current developments 
ConverterTec has been organizationally separated from Woodward in the carve-out process implemented since 
the company was acquired by AURELIUS. Efficient, independent organizational units have been established for 
Finance, Human Resources, IT and Procurement. Separate, operationally active locations have been established 
for the Aftermarket business in Brazil, the United States, Japan and India. The company moved into its own devel-
opment center in Sofia/Bulgaria. In Krakow/Poland, the company plans to relocate production to its own facility 
in the fourth quarter of 2021. The company commissioned its own IT system in the second quarter of 2021. Key 
management positions have been re-staffed with experienced personnel.

Significant factors affecting business performance
Despite generating lower-than-budget revenues, the company’s earnings have been stable relative to budget in 
the time since the company has belonged to AURELIUS thanks to successfully implemented cost reduction meas-
ures. These measures included the adjustment of staffing levels, the realization of improvement potential in Pro-
curement and the establishment of efficient organizational units for Development, IT and Finance. The company 
is increasingly tapping additional markets besides the wind industry in order to increase and further diversify its 
business.

Outlook
Customer have deferred orders as a result of the coronavirus pandemic and material bottlenecks affecting key 
customers, thus shifting revenues to the second half of the year. Partners have already placed new orders for 
converters and components to be filled in 2022. Besides wind power, ConverterTec is also positioning itself as a 
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partner for the production of converters and components to be used in electrical energy conversion in the market 
for energy storage and hydrogen applications. In the Aftermarket & Service segment, the company is expanding 
its business segments in order to increase sales in the long term through various projects.

HÜPPE

Company
HÜPPE is one of the leading European manufacturers of shower screens, shower tubs, wall coverings and bath-
room accessories. The products, which are mainly sold to wholesalers, include not only the company’s own 
brands, but also brand-name products of other well-known manufacturers. Founded in 1889, the company has 
belonged to AURELIUS since late May 2021.

Structure and organization 
HÜPPE operates two production facilities: one at the company’s headquarters in the Lower Saxony town of Bad 
Zwischenahn and another in the Turkish city of Cerkezköy, where low-cost entry-level products are produced for 
new markets, among other products. To ensure greater closeness to customers, HÜPPE maintains independently 
managed distribution companies in Germany, France, Belgium, Poland, Czech Republic, the Netherlands and 
 Turkey.

The management team has many years of industry experience. It is composed of a CEO, a CSO, a CFO, a Human 
Resources Director and a Sales Director responsible for Germany and Austria.

Market environment
In the company’s core markets, the bathroom equipment market is growing at an average annual rate of two to 
three percent. It parallels the development of the construction sector. Customers are spending more to renew 
their bathrooms for the sake of enhancing the quality of life at home. The market is competition-intensive and 
characterized by consolidation. The trend of bathroom equipment is towards simple, comprehensive batch instal-
lation solutions, as well as larger and barrier-free showers instead of bathtubs.

Current developments 
In the course of the coronavirus crisis, the bathroom equipment industry was classified as systemically relevant so 
that installers were able to continue working without longer interruptions. All in all, the crisis has had only minor 
effects on the construction industry and the market for bathroom equipment in Germany. In other markets such 
as France, Belgium and Czech Republic, the effects were considerably greater due to higher case numbers and 
more drastic lockdowns.

In some cases, consumers have postponed or cancelled orders to rebuild their bathrooms or build new bathrooms 
due to the uncertainties arising from the coronavirus pandemic. All in all, however, demand has been relatively 
stable. There is also a large backlog of work from the pre-coronavirus period, which has benefited sales of bath-
room equipment.
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Significant factors affecting business performance
The management initiated a restructuring program in the past year to adapt the company to the changed 
 economic conditions. Concrete measures are being taken to sharpen the company’s regional focus and lead it on 
a new course of growth. In addition, the product portfolio will be streamlined and internal processes optimized, 
especially in order processing. 

Outlook
Over the course of the year, HÜPPE’s economic position has improved compared to the previous year, due in no 
small part to strict cost control. The initiated and planned management initiatives and the operational support 
afforded by AURELIUS should further stabilize HÜPPE’s economic situation. The management therefore also 
 expects EBITDA to improve over the prior-year period.
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SERVICES & SOLUTIONS SEGMENT (SS)

Revenues from continued operations in the Services & Solutions Segment rose by 38 percent to EUR 195.8 mil-
lion in the first half of 2021 (H1 2020: EUR 141.6 million). This figure includes Pullman Fleet Solutions, which was 
acquired in the second half of 2020, as well as the add-on acquisitions AutoRestore (for Rivus Fleet Solutions) 
and GSB Gerüstbau (for BPG Building Partners Group) completed in late March 2021. 

The earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) of the Services & Solutions seg-
ment amounted to EUR 15.9 million (H1 2020: EUR 5.9 million). Segment earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 
amounted to EUR 4.0 million (H1 2020: EUR -6.2 million).

LD DIDACTIC

Company
LD Didactic is a provider of technical teaching systems for schools and vocational training. It has belonged to 
AURELIUS since 2009. The group offers complete solutions with a strong digital component for general educa-
tion in science and vocational training in technology, engineering and science.  

Structure and organization
Headquartered in Hürth, LD Didactic operates a total of three production facilities in Frechen, Urbach and Cegléd/
Hungary. LD Didactic also maintains local sales offices for Latin America and the United Kingdom. LD Didactic’s 
management team is divided into two areas of responsibility, Sales and Operations, and bears joint responsibility 
for Finance, Controlling and HR. Besides Sales, the Marketing and Communication Departments also report to the 
Sales and Marketing Director. The Operations Director is responsible for Product Management, Development, 
Procurement, Production, Logistics, Order Fulfillment and IT. He also manages the company’s three factories and 
the foreign subsidiary in Hungary. 

Market environment
Investments in education is a global megatrend. According to the “2020 Global Education Market Report” pub-
lished by Mergers Alliance, about USD 152 billion was invested worldwide in education technology (edtech) in 
2018. Expenditures are expected to more than double to USD 342 billion by the year 2025. 

These investments are being made both in industrialized nations and emerging-market countries. Industrialized 
nations are investing to maintain and extend their technological lead and to accelerate the transformation to a 
knowledge and services society. The motivation of emerging-market countries to invest in education is primarily 
to address the shortage of skilled workers, combat youth unemployment or avert emigration. 

According to the World Economic Forum, providers of digital education solutions are additionally benefitting 
from the consequences of the coronavirus pandemic: 1.2 billion school-age students in 186 countries have been 
affected by coronavirus-related school closures. This development has resulted in heightened demand for and 
use of digital learning content, digital learning tools and virtual instruction. 
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In many cases, the coronavirus-related school closures have made it even more necessary to invest in innovative 
education technology (edtech). LD Didactic will benefit from this trend for years to come. 

Current developments 
The coronavirus pandemic has affected both the company’s order intake and its revenues as schools and univer-
sities were closed and even government offices and local authorities were only partially staffed for a historically 
unprecedented length of time. The processing of investment applications was delayed because decision-makers 
in Germany and abroad were mainly preoccupied with addressing the pandemic.

Significant factors affecting business performance
As the incidence of infections declines and economies are increasingly re-opened, sales meetings can be held 
again to a greater degree. This led to an appreciable increase in new orders from within Germany by the end of the 
second quarter. A similar development is expected in countries outside of Germany beginning in the third quarter 
as the lockdowns are eased further and travel restrictions are lifted.  

Outlook
Thanks to its innovative portfolio and international footprint, LD Didactic has good chances of capturing an 
above-average share of the global investments in education technology (edtech). As the coronavirus pandemic 
subsides further and markets are re-opened, the company anticipates further growth of new orders and revenues 
in the second half of 2021. 

AKAD UNIVERSITY

Company
AKAD University, which has belonged to AURELIUS since 2014, is a long-established private distance-learning 
school. It specializes in flexible distance learning “wherever and whenever” for working people. It offers bache-
lor, master and MBA degree programs in the fields of business and management, technology and computer 
science, and languages and culture, as well as numerous continuing education programs. Currently, around 
12,000 adults, mostly working professionals, are enrolled in AKAD University. Since 1959, more than 67,000 grad-
uates have earned degrees from AKAD University that are recognized in the German business community.

Structure and organization
AKAD University is headquartered in Stuttgart and operates 33 examination centers throughout Germany. The 
management team is divided into two areas of responsibility, one for the University and the Institute for 
 Continuing Education (ICE) and the other for Marketing/Sales (B2C), Corporate Customers (B2B), IT (E-Learning 
Technologies), Human Resources and Finance. 

Market environment
The German distance learning market for academic degrees and non-academic continuing education programs 
continued to grow at a modest, single-digit percentage rate in the past year 2020. The market is still influenced by 
fundamental societal trends such as the scarcity of skilled workers, the growing demand for lifelong learning and 
academic degrees, technological developments and the increasing digitalization of society and work. Moreover, 
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the trend of digitalization has accelerated considerably as a result of the corona virus pandemic, giving rise to new 
offerings and providers in the distance learning market.

Current developments 
Compared with its competitors, AKAD University offers a medium-broad range of learning programs. The compa-
ny’s offering is geared to the German-language market. The positive trend of new orders and revenues from 2020 
continued in the first half of 2021. The revenues generated by AKAD University in the first half of 2021 were again 
slightly higher than in the first half of 2020. In addition, the number of newly enrolled students was considerably 
higher and particularly the number of new students in bachelor’s degree programs was higher than in the first 
half of last year. Moreover, the budgeted levels of new orders and revenues were exceeded in the first half of 2021.

Significant factors affecting business performance
After a longer optimization phase, the company is currently in the growth phase. The platform and modulari-
zation concept for quick and efficient product development has been implemented, allowing for the fast 
 market introduction of new study programs. New ground was broken in April with the new bachelor’s degree 
program in social work. This degree program, which is the cornerstone of the newly created School of Social 
Work and Public Health, was well received in the market. Moreover, the company recently obtained system 
accreditation. This will enable AKAD University to accredit study programs more easily and quickly in the  future. 
System accreditation is critical to achieving the company’s planned growth in the coming years.

The coronavirus crisis continued to influence the market environment for AKAD University in the first half of 
2021. No in-person examinations and seminars could be held in most months of this period. The online exami-
nations introduced already in 2019, which students can take entirely remote, contributed to the stability of the 
company’s business model. 

Outlook
The business of AKAD University has not yet been adversely impacted by the coronavirus crisis. The fundamental 
growth strategy initiated in 2020 will likely also be pursued without changes in 2021 and in the following years. 
The development of new study programs and the entry into new segments will probably continue to be the big-
gest growth drivers for AKAD University in the coming years. New study programs based on the variably usable 
module platform will be introduced in several waves. These new programs will be supported by intensified mar-
keting and sales activities in the coming years. In addition, new segments such as the dual course of study offer 
good chances for additional revenue growth. However, adverse effects such as payment defaults, a reduced will-
ingness of new students to pay tuition fees and higher student cancellation rates could arise in the event of a 
longer-lasting economic crisis. 

BPG BUILDING PARTNERS GROUP

Company
BPG Building Partners Group is a group of scaffold-building and construction logistics companies that provides 
services for all kinds of construction projects throughout Germany. Moreover, the group is one of the few compa-
nies in Germany to possess the capacities and technical capabilities to build even the most complex scaffold 
 designs. In the Construction Logistics division, the company also provides services for equipping and operating 
construction sites. Although BPG Building Partners Group has been involved in the execution of numerous large-
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scale projects throughout Germany, it also supports many medium-sized and small projects. The group’s custom-
ers include prestigious construction companies, architects, skilled trades and public-sector institutions. BPG 
 Building Partners Group developed out of B+P Gerüstbau and belongs to AURELIUS since 2014.

Structure and organization
BPG Building Partners Group is headquartered in Wandlitz, near Berlin. The group companies offer their services 
in all regions of Germany, with a particular emphasis on Berlin-Brandenburg, southeastern Germany, Hesse, 
Rhineland-Palatinate, Munich, the Rhine-Ruhr region, Hamburg and Schleswig-Holstein. The group maintains 
 offices and storage facilities in Berlin, Hamburg, Munich, Schmölln/Leipzig, Kaarst/Düsseldorf and Mannheim/
Bobenheim-Roxheim. BPG Building Partners Group is managed by one managing director.

Market environment
The market for scaffold building and construction site logistics is dependent on the general state of the construc-
tion industry. Although the direct effects of the coronavirus pandemic and the lockdown in the first half of the 
year were rather minor, market sentiment was adversely affected to some degree. Thus, the Federal Association 
of the German Construction Industry (Hauptverband der deutschen Bauindustrie) now expects a two percent 
decline in nominal construction industry revenues in the full year 2021 due to weakening demand, greater compe-
tition pressure and extreme increases in some cases in the prices for construction materials.

Current developments 
The company has been affected by restrictions on regular business operations resulting from the coronavirus 
pandemic only to a minor degree. However, the first quarter was weaker than expected due to inclement winter 
weather. The acquisition of GSB Gerüstbau GmbH, based in Bobenheim-Roxheim, was completed on March 31, 
2021. The revenue target was surpassed by a wide margin due to the revenue contributions of the newly acquired 
company and the otherwise strong performance in the second quarter. 

Significant factors affecting business performance
The reporting period was affected by the market uncertainties associated with the coronavirus pandemic. 

Outlook
Based on the still high level of orders and intensive sales activities, BPG Building Partners Group expects modest 
organic revenue growth for the year 2021 despite the continuing coronavirus crisis and subdued economic indica-
tors. In addition, the integration of the newly acquired GSB Gerüstbau GmbH led to a substantial revenue boost. 
BPG Building Partners Group is countering adverse earnings effects with Groupwide coordinated cost savings 
measures and structural adjustments and therefore expects a stable, clearly positive earnings situation.

TRANSFORM HOSPITAL GROUP (FORMERLY: TRANSFORM / THE HOSPITAL GROUP)

Company 
Transform Hospital Group (formerly: Transform/The Hospital Group) is a provider of healthcare and wellbeing 
services with specific market leadership positions in surgical and non-surgical cosmetic procedures, as well as 
weight loss treatments in the United Kingdom. The company evolved from the merger of Transform and The 
Hospital Group, which have belonged to the AURELIUS Group since June 2015 and October 2016, respectively.
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The company operates a network comprising twelve outpatient clinics in England, Scotland and Wales, as well as 
two dedicated surgical procedure hospitals. In addition, Transform Hospital Group maintains support centers for 
the pre-treatment and post-treatment of surgical procedures throughout the United Kingdom.

Structure and organization
Headquartered in Manchester/United Kingdom, Transform Hospital Group is led by a CEO with the support of a 
senior management team in the areas of Finance, Human Resources, IT, Legal and Operations. The senior manage-
ment team is responsible for the company’s operating segments of Cosmetic Interventions, Surgical Services, 
Weight Loss Services and Wellbeing Services.

Market environment
The market environment for Transform Hospital Group has been fundamentally influenced by the coronavirus 
pandemic. In spring 2020, an agreement was signed with the National Health Service (NHS) under which the com-
pany made its nationwide network of clinics and hospitals available for combating COVID-19. As a result, Trans-
form Hospital Group was basically able to continue operating during the time when its normal business activity 
was prohibited by the government. Since July 2020, the company has again been offering its normal services to 
the private pay market, although some services were restricted to comply with Covid-related guidelines until the 
beginning of 2021. Demand in core markets has since returned to the pre-crisis level and the company has been 
able to strengthen its market position in a still fragmented market environment that is unsettled by the ongoing 
coronavirus crisis.

Current developments 
The company’s revenues were heavily influenced by the coronavirus crisis, especially in the months of March to 
July 2020 when it could no longer offer its normal services. The resulting revenue and earnings effects were 
 partially offset by the transfer of use of the company’s clinics and hospitals to the National Health Service. In the 
meantime, Transform Hospital Group has added telemedicine offerings to its e-commerce portfolio, strength-
ened its digital marketing activities and implemented efficiency programs. These steps have made it possible 
to use resources better so that capacity utilization in the clinic and hospital network has improved. Moreover, 
the  service portfolio was expanded with additional treatment services and new routes to market through a 
 Business-to-Business services segment complementing the well-established Business-to-Consumer platform.

Significant factors affecting business performance
The management used the period of the coronavirus crisis to adapt its business model so that Transform Hospital 
Group is now a broader-based healthcare and wellbeing provider offering a wider range of services with a lower 
cost base. 

Outlook
As a result of the pandemic, the backlog of planned surgical procedures is at a record high level. This will lead to 
greater demand in the private healthcare sector, both from NHS outsourcing and from private consumers 
(self-payers and private insurance). While consumer confidence remains low due to Brexit and the uncertainty of 
the pandemic, there is still an expectation of a return to higher volume levels for core cosmetic and weight-loss 
treatments due to pent-up demand. 

The company has responded to the underlying market dynamics by broadening its product range considerably 
and by automating and digitalizing its processes. The new offering of telemedicine services has made it possible 
to lower costs further. The company expects to emerge from the coronavirus crisis in a strengthened competitive 
position. Thanks to lower fixed costs and greater efficiency, Transform Hospital Group sees itself well positioned 
to prevail in a difficult market environment. 
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RIVUS FLEET SOLUTIONS

Company
Rivus Fleet Solutions is a commercial vehicle fleet operator in the United Kingdom with a nationwide network 
of  repair shops and an offering of fleet management services for major customers. Rivus Fleet Solutions was 
 acquired by AURELIUS in September 2019. 

The acquisition of AutoRestore as affiliate company of Rivus Fleet Solutions was successfully completed in March 
2021. AutoRestore is a leading provider of mobile body repair services in the British market. 

Structure and organization
Rivus Fleet Solutions was founded in 2002 and has its headquarters in Solihull/United Kingdom. The company 
takes care of more than 85,000 vehicles for more than 30 well-known large companies in different sectors, includ-
ing the former parent company British Telecom (BT Group), which operates the second-biggest vehicle fleet in the 
United Kingdom.

With its network of 55 own repair shops, more than 500 partner repair shops and 35 mobile technicians, Rivus 
Fleet Solutions offers an extensive range of fleet management services for all phases of the vehicle life cycle, with 
a particular focus on commercial fleets, which mostly consist of vans and heavy transport vehicles, and on servic-
ing complex specialty vehicles. 

AutoRestore, headquartered in Rushden, Northamptonshire, was established as a division of Belron in 2010. 
 AutoRestore currently operates a fleet of around 90 mobile repair vehicles. It handles more than 30,000 repairs a 
year for B2B customers, including insurance and fleet management companies and is steadily growing its B2C 
 offering.

Market environment
The fleet management sector is exposed to various stresses due to the continuing coronavirus pandemic. In 
the United Kingdom, coronavirus restrictions remained in effect in some cases until the reporting date of June 
30. However, revenue declines were moderated by the fact that the British government has classified fleet 
management as systemically relevant, enabling the company to continue operating and granting its employ-
ees the special key worker status. This status was conferred on the company by reason of the fact that it serves 
infrastructure-relevant sectors such as telecommunications, energy and “blue lights” (emergency response 
services). Moreover, the company’s biggest customer, the BT Group, continues to invest in its fiber-optic net-
works and in the 5G mobile communication standard and is therefore continually enlarging its vehicle fleet.

New business opportunities are also seen as companies increasingly outsource fleet management to save costs 
to focus on their core business or increasingly convert their fleets to lower-emissions electric vehicles as de-
manded by the British government.

Current developments 
During the pandemic, Rivus Fleet Solutions kept its entire repair shop network fully operational, albeit with fewer 
employees. To offset the lower staffing levels, business hours were lengthened, with some locations operating 
around the clock, to provide the necessary capacities. This high level of service had a very positive effect on cus-
tomer feedback, which should benefit Rivus Fleet Solutions in future contract negotiations. 
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Since the acquisition, the company has launched various cost optimization projects in close consultation with 
AURELIUS. The organizational restructuring of administration and the repair shop network has been largely com-
pleted. The benefits of these measures are already showing up in the company’s results and helped the company 
navigate the coronavirus crisis last year. 

Key growth initiatives such as services for electric vehicles, leasing, vehicle connectivity and further strategic 
partnerships have already been launched.

Significant factors affecting business performance
The measures taken to enhance efficiency and transform the business are expected to drive sustainable growth, 
both organic and in the form of appropriate strategic add-on acquisitions. These measures include the reorgani-
zation and digitization of all operational processes, the consolidation of the repair shop network, various person-
nel restructuring measures at headquarters, for example, and the realization of improvement potential in 
 Procurement, IT and Finance.  

Outlook
Rivus Fleet Solutions and AutoRestore together solidify their market leadership in fleet management and  accident 
repair services in the United Kingdom. The company has launched selected key initiatives for growth and devel-
opment. It has also launched other key initiatives such as the continual digitization of customer service, the 
 modernization of central IT systems and  vehicle connectivity offerings. These measures will underpin the leading 
position of Rivus Fleet Solutions in the British fleet management market. The measures taken to enhance 
 efficiency and grow the business should have a positive effect and contribute to a further improvement of EBITDA 
in financial year 2021.

PULLMAN FLEET SOLUTIONS

Outlook
Pullman Fleet Solutions is a leading commercial vehicle fleet operator in the United Kingdom with a particular 
focus on heavy utility vehicles. The company offers fleet management services (repair, maintenance, accident and 
breakdown assistance) to major customers. Pullman Fleet Solutions has belonged to AURELIUS since November 
2020. 

Structure and organization
Headquartered in Doncaster/United Kingdom, Pullman Fleet Solutions is the largest independent provider of 
commercial vehicle fleet management, maintenance and repair shop services for heavy utility vehicles such as 
trucks in the United Kingdom. The company has provided reliable and flexible service to major customers such as 
the former parent company Wincanton and corporations like Tesco and Morrisons for 35 years. With 24 own 
 repair shops, more than 70 mobile technicians and 400 employees, Pullman Fleet Solutions offers a comprehen-
sive range of services for the fleet management, maintenance and repair of heavy-load transport vehicles and 
customer-tailored, flexible financing. 

Market environment
The market for repair shop services for heavy-load transport vehicles in the United Kingdom is very challenging, 
not only due to the ongoing coronavirus pandemic. Customers in the logistics sector pay close attention to prices 
and deadlines. Moreover, the legal regulations applicable to commercial heavy-load transport vehicles are 
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 extremely strict and compliance requirements are demanding. Due to insufficient digitalization and persistent 
price dumping, providers of fleet management services are confronted with increasing competition. 

The economic effects of the coronavirus pandemic on the company have been mitigated by the circumstance 
that the British government has classified fleet management as systemically relevant. Like Rivus Fleet Solutions, 
Pullman Fleet Solutions was therefore able to continue operating during the lockdown. Moreover, employees 
have been granted key worker status by reason of the fact that the company serves infrastructure-relevant 
 customers such as the British corporations Tesco, Morrisons, Wilko and Wincanton.

Furthermore, the legally prescribed maintenance cycles for vans and trucks must be upheld. Moreover, the vehicle 
inspections prescribed by the British Ministry of Transport (comparable to the German Technical Inspection Asso-
ciation or TÜV) and repair work can only be postponed for a certain period of time. This will help the company 
offset structural weaknesses and partially make up the revenue declines caused by the coronavirus pandemic. 
New business opportunities are also seen as companies increasingly outsource fleet management to save costs 
and focus on their core business. 

Current developments
Immediately after the acquisition, Pullman Fleet Solutions launched a cost optimization project in close collabo-
ration with AURELIUS. The organizational restructuring of the repair shop network has already been completed in 
part. Of its original 27 repair shops, Pullman Fleet Solutions closed four which would have been unprofitable in 
the long term. The closures improved the capacity utilization of the remaining repair shops without compromis-
ing the business model or level of service provided to customers.  

Significant factors affecting business performance
The measures taken to enhance efficiency and transform the business have helped stabilize the company’s busi-
ness and guide the company through the coronavirus phase. These measures include the partnership with Rivus 
Fleet Solutions, the consolidation of the repair shop network, various personnel restructuring measures, including 
at headquarters, the realization of improvement potential in procurement and the establishment of an efficient 
IT and Finance Department.  

Outlook
Pullman Fleet Solutions expects to reach EBITDA break-even by the end of 2021, subject to the influence of the 
ongoing coronavirus crisis. The measures taken to enhance efficiency and transform the business and the part-
nership with the AURELIUS portfolio company Rivus Fleet Solutions will have a positive effect on the company’s 
stability and economic success in the medium term.
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RETAIL & CONSUMER PRODUCTS SEGMENT (RCP)

Revenues from continued operations in the Retail & Consumer Products segment amounted to EUR 678.8 
million in the first half of 2021, that being 15 percent higher than the year-ago figure (H1 2020: EUR 592.4 mil-
lion). The group companies Distrelec und Nedis acquired in March 2020 are included for the first time in the 
full six months of the 2021 financial year ending on June 30. In addition, the Conaxess Trade Group acquired 
the Movement Group as an add-on acquisition in late March 2021. As part of the strategic decision to consol-
idate the businesses, negotiations are currently being conducted with various investors to sell the remaining 
activities of Office Depot Europe. Office Depot Europe was therefore reclassified to discontinued operations 
as of 30 June 2021. 

The earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) of this segment amounted to 
EUR 53.8 million in the first half of 2021, as compared to EUR 181.2 million in the first half of 2020. The decrease 
is mainly due to the high level of bargain purchase gains included in EBITDA in the first half of 2020. By con-
trast, no bargain purchase gains were recognized in this segment in the first half of 2021. Segment earnings 
before interest and taxes (EBIT) amounted to EUR 28.2 million (H1 2020: EUR 155.6 million). 

SCHOLL SHOES (FORMERLY: SCHOLL FOOTWEAR)

Company
Scholl Shoes (formerly: Scholl Footwear) is a long-established supplier of shoes offering a high degree of comfort. 
It is active in Europe, Asia and the Middle East. In Europe, the company’s shoes are sold online, in premium retail 
stores, via distributors, by retail chains and in pharmacies and medical supply stores. In Asia and the Middle East, 
the company’s shoes are sold online, in department stores and shoe stores. Scholl Shoes enjoys widespread brand 
recognition in its main markets. The company offers a broad portfolio of products ranging from fashion shoes to 
everyday shoes and work shoes. Design and development work for Europe and the Middle East is performed in 
Italy. The company has its own development units and several licensing partners in Southeast Asia. The company 
has belonged to the AURELIUS Group since 2014.

Structure and organization
Scholl Shoes has its headquarters in Milan/Italy. The senior management team bears overall responsibility for the 
company. Each national subsidiary is managed by its own management team, to which the key departments of 
Finance, Marketing, Sales and Logistics report.

Market environment
Like all retail markets, the shoe market has suffered considerably from the coronavirus crisis. It is estimated that 
shoe sales in all countries have declined by an average of around 30 percent. Early signs of recovery can be ob-
served in some European core markets such as Germany and France. Across all markets, industry experts are 
forecasting a recovery to the pre-crisis level in late 2022 or early 2023. 
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Current developments 
Despite the prolonged coronavirus pandemic, the company’s first-half revenues were considerably higher 
than in the first half of last year and are only slightly below the pre-crisis level. This performance was mainly 
driven by strong growth in e-commerce and the introduction of the new product lines Scholl Iconic and 
Scholl Kids. Also in Asia, revenues were higher than in the first half of last year. Licensing revenues from 
 licensing partnerships were substantially lower than the year-ago figure. Thanks to profitable growth and 
efficiency enhancement measures, EBITDA was considerably higher than in previous years.

Significant factors affecting business performance
Profitable growth is supported by the company’s consistent digital transformation and its strong focus on online 
and distributor sales. The cost reduction and efficiency enhancement measures that were promptly implemented 
in reaction to the coronavirus crisis continue to yield results and have had a positive effect on EBITDA. Inventory 
accumulation has been kept low by means of flexible supply chains. Scholl Shoes had no excess inventories and 
no storage risks at the start of the 2021 financial year. Moreover, all customer orders were filled and the company 
was not exposed to default risks. 

Outlook
It is still expected that the future consumption climate will be worse than before the crisis. Industry experts 
 expect that the market will return to the pre-crisis level only at the end of 2022 or beginning of 2023. Therefore, 
the company continues to focus on expanding its distributor and partner business in Europe and tapping new 
markets in Asia by means of distribution agreements and licensing partnerships. The company also continues to 
advance the digital transformation by driving its own online sales and seeking to exploit new online market-
places. Moreover, the company is stepping up the digitalization of its processes and streamlining its organiza-
tional structure further. Finally, the company is expanding its portfolio of product lines and products and seeking 
to enter into new product and brand partnerships.

CONAXESS TRADE GROUP

Company
The Conaxess Trade Group is a large, independent distributor of fast-moving consumer goods in Europe. It 
 operates primarily in the categories of food, alcoholic and non-alcoholic beverages, and personal hygiene. The 
Conaxess Trade Group maintains sales organizations in the Scandinavian countries, as well as Austria and Swit-
zerland. The group represents, promotes and distributes more than 200 international and local brands, which 
generally do not handle their own distribution in these countries. The brand-name products are marketed sys-
tematically through different retail and wholesale channels ranging from cross-border retail giants to HoReCa 
(hotel, restaurant, catering) channels, kiosks and convenience stores. The Conaxess Trade Group emerged from 
the acquisition of the distribution business of the Swiss company Valora AG. It has belonged to the AURELIUS 
Group since the beginning of 2016.

Structure and organization
The Conaxess Trade Group consists of seven companies in Denmark, Sweden, Norway, Finland, Austria and 
Switzerland, as well as the Danish company Conaxess Trade Beverages AS and Movement Group Sweden, 
which was acquired in March 2021. The group’s headquarters is located in Hvidovre (Copenhagen) in Denmark. 
The group’s management team is composed of a CEO and a CFO, as well as the heads of Business Development, 
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Communication and IT. All the national subsidiaries of the Conaxess Trade Group have a similar organization 
with their own CEO, CFO, Marketing Director and Sales Director. Conaxess also operates its own logistical 
centers in Denmark and Switzerland. 

Market environment
In general, the markets for fast-moving consumer goods are very stable and not subject to wide fluctuations. 
However, the restrictions imposed by governments to combat the ongoing coronavirus pandemic have also im-
pacted sales of consumer goods. These restrictions have mainly caused shifts between sales channels, including 
shifts from the HoReCa channel to conventional retail outlets, for example.

The group only advertises and distributes third-party brands. Unlike its competitors, which very often also distrib-
ute their own brands from their own production for sale in retail stores, the company is not subject to any of the 
risks associated with this activity. Conaxess Trade Group therefore sees itself as being well-positioned compared 
to its competitors and can operate on a risk-free, flexible and lean cost basis.

The market for fast-moving consumer goods is closely tied to the development of retail sales. However, the 
 coronavirus crisis has changed consumer behavior. Retail sales of product groups for which demand has increased 
dramatically (e.g. noodles, canned foods, crispbread, cleaning agents, disinfectants, alcoholic beverages, etc.) have 
benefitted the most, whereas HoReCa sales, in-shop travel sales (airports, train stations, borders) and impulse 
buying of candy and snacks have suffered from the crisis. 

These developments have been driven by reduced travel activity, fewer trips to work and less “on-the-go” 
 consumption. Some distribution channels were temporarily closed completely (hotels, restaurants, employee 
 cafeterias) with absolutely no sales during these times as the corresponding sales migrated to conventional retail 
outlets.

Current developments 
The business performance of the Conaxess Trade Group was very positive compared to the first half of last year. 
Thanks to the company’s broad-based customer structure, coronavirus-related declines in some segments were 
more than made up by growth in other segments. Thanks to this development coupled with stringent cost man-
agement, the company’s earnings were better than planned. 

In the first half of the year, the company focused on the resumption of activity in all sales channels and on plan-
ning the integration of the Movement Group in Sweden, which was acquired as an add-on acquisition in March 
2021. The Movement Group’s business is identical to that of the Conaxess Trade Group. The integration should be 
completed by the end of this year. After the integration, the Conaxess Trade Group will be in a position to increase 
its revenues in Sweden considerably and offer its partners a wider range of brand development services.  

Significant factors affecting business performance
The general trend of revenues will be affected primarily by the coronavirus-related restrictions /re-openings 
(travel retail and HoReCa) and sales shifts between sales channels. Sales have also been affected by the intro-
duction of new products and the modification or termination of products and contracts. Moreover, the syner-
gies resulting from the integration of the Movement Group will have a positive effect on the group’s revenues 
and earnings. 
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The wide fluctuations of the exchange rates of the Swedish krona and the Norwegian krone against the euro, 
the US dollar and the British pound can temporarily have an adverse effect on the Group’s EBITDA, but this 
should be made up by price increases in the later course of the year.

Outlook
The outlook for the business of the Conaxess Trade Group in the second half of 2021 is positive although the 
spread of coronavirus variants and the possible measures to be imposed by governments to contain them could 
affect the group’s business performance. Despite the currently slow pace, the re-openings are beginning to show 
positive effects.  

EUROPEAN IMAGING GROUP (FORMERLY: CALUMET WEX)

Company
The European Imaging Group (formerly: Calumet Wex) is the holding company for a number of brands and com-
panies in the imaging sector, including the photographic and video equipment vendors Calumet, Wex and Foto- 
Video Sauter. The group is Europe’s leading omnichannel vendor of photographic and video equipment for enthu-
siasts and professionals, offering an extensive portfolio of brand-name products of reputable manufacturers and 
private-label brands and services. Calumet has belonged to AURELIUS since 2016, Wex since 2017. Foto-Video 
 Sauter in Munich was acquired as an add-on acquisition in late 2018.

Structure and organization
Headquartered in Norwich, Norfolk/United Kingdom, the European Imaging Group operates in the United 
Kingdom, Germany, Belgium and the Netherlands, where it sells a wide range of products in its own online 
shops and 18 specialty stores. The group also operates two warehouses in northern Germany and the United 
Kingdom in order to ensure the quick delivery of products to retail stores and online customers. 

The group is led by a two-person management team. The Chairman of the group’s Board of Directors is respon-
sible for Calumet’s business in central Europe. The other member of the Board of Directors is responsible for 
Wex in the United Kingdom. The extended management team also includes senior executives in charge of 
Marketing, Online Sales, IT and Finance.

Market environment
The coronavirus pandemic caused sharp declines in the photography market in Germany and the United 
 Kingdom last year. However, specialty retailers were not as hard hit as the overall market. According to the 
consumer goods market research firm GfK, specialty retailers experienced a substantial recovery in the first 
half of 2021, from which Calumet benefitted more than others.

The company believes that competitors in both Germany and the United Kingdom will experience economic 
difficulties as a result of the coronavirus pandemic. This is expected to strengthen the position of the European 
Imaging Group in the market.
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Current developments 
The coronavirus pandemic has caused a substantial shift to online sales in Germany, Belgium, the United  Kingdom 
and the Netherlands as customers have avoided city centers and ordered more goods from home due to 
 anti-coronavirus measures such as lockdowns and shop closures.

The European Imaging Group in particular benefited from this development because the company had been 
 expanding its online business, including click-and-collect service, for some time already. Consequently, the group 
increased its market shares considerably in the core markets of Germany and the United Kingdom. Thus, the 
group’s revenues were above plan and thanks to stringent cost management, its EBTIDA was well above plan in 
the first half of the year.

The gradual easing of anti-coronavirus measures has led to a steady increase in physical store sales since April. The 
group’s retail sales in Germany have regained the pre-crisis level since June. The extent to which this development 
can be attributed to pent-up demand effects is not yet clear. Product availability is still a challenge due to supply 
chain delays and semiconductor shortages. 

Significant factors affecting business performance
Shop closures were ordered repeatedly in all the group’s markets, especially in spring 2020 and from November 
2020 to spring 2021, as a result of the continuing coronavirus crisis. Initially, the only way customers could pur-
chase goods from the group’s stores was by utilizing the click-and-collect option. As the restrictions were progres-
sively lifted, stores were only required to register shoppers or limit the number of shoppers in the stores. The 
click-and-collect service was well received, as was the extra service of free delivery to locations in the near vicinity 
of stores for purchases of EUR 500 and more. As business picked up again in the second quarter, the company was 
able to partially make up the sales losses sustained in the first months of 2021.

Both large photography trade fairs and the company’s planned in-house trade fair were cancelled. Even common 
products were in short supply as a result of coronavirus-related supply chain delays and freight bottlenecks. 
 Online sales were also affected by these shortages.

A new B2B organization modeled after the British example was established in Germany to facilitate business with 
large public-sector institutions (universities, police departments) and large corporations. This new organization 
has gotten off a good start. Moreover, a new ERP system was introduced and the group’s corporate structures 
were simplified as of January 1, 2021. 

Outlook
After a good second quarter, the European Imaging Group expects to fulfill its groupwide budget for 2021 despite 
the lockdowns in the first quarter – provided that a fourth virus wave does not lead to the imposition of drastic 
new restrictions. Trade fairs and other sales events will probably resume in the summer. In addition, the company 
plans to open new stores in Cologne, Hanover, Glasgow/Scotland and Newcastle/United Kingdom.
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SILVAN

Company
Silvan is a leading DIY (do-it-yourself) retail chain in Denmark with the highest brand awareness in this sector. 
Silvan mainly serves retail customers from 42 DIY stores and an online shop in Denmark. Silvan’s stores, which are 
favorably located for customers in both city centers and suburbs, offer not only conventional DIY products such as 
building materials and gardening products, but also home improvement and smart home products. Altogether, 
Silvan distributes more than 150 brands with a particular focus on sustainability.

The company has increasingly placed a greater emphasis on customer convenience and customer focus in the last 
few years. Besides expanding its online presence (including help content) and offering drive-in service options and 
conventional retail services such as click-and-collect, the company has made personalized services such as cus-
tom wood cutting, paint mixing, bicycle rentals, equipment rentals and trailer rentals an integral part of its ser-
vice portfolio. Parcel delivery has been offered to customers at all stores since the beginning of 2021. In addition, 
locksmith service is now offered in many of the company’s stores. Silvan was acquired by AURELIUS in September 
2017.

Structure and organization
Silvan has its headquarters in Brabant, which is part of the Danish city of Aarhus. It is led by a four-person man-
agement team composed of a CEO, a CFO, a COO and a CSO. The extended management team includes senior 
executives in charge of Accounting, Category Management, E-Commerce & Marketing, Finance, HR, IT and 
Logistics.

Market environment
The competition situation is unchanged from the previous year and the market situation is still fluid. The DIY sec-
tor in Denmark continues to exhibit a positive development despite the strong challenge posed to the market of 
stationary DIY stores by the nationwide lockdown in January and February 2021. The most important competitors 
in the B2C business are still Bauhaus, Jem & Fix and Harald Nyborg, which are expanding further and opening new 
stores in Denmark or planning to do so. In addition, the Swedish Byggmax Group entered the Danish market and 
announced its intention to roll out its DIY discount concept in Denmark at the end of 2020.

Current developments 
The global coronavirus pandemic has been one of the main factors affecting business in the 2021 financial year 
thus far. Compared with other countries in Europe, Denmark has weathered the coronavirus crisis relatively well. 
Due to high case numbers, however, the Danish government ordered a nationwide lockdown in December 2020, 
which basically remained in effect until the end of February 2021. Despite these challenges, the company’s busi-
ness performance in the early months of 2021 exceeded its initial expectations as the company generated very 
high revenues from e-commerce sales and click-and-collect sales during this period. 

The positive result can be credited at least in part to the rapid and consistent implementation of numerous meas-
ures to quickly shift the business model to pure online sales, as well as the effective cost savings measures and 
targeted investments implemented at this time. For example, the company invested more resources in the devel-
opment of its online business during the lockdown. Among other measures, the company expanded its click-and-
collect offering, made it possible to purchase services online and expanded its delivery options. In addition to the 
direct effects of the coronavirus pandemic on the DIY market, Silvan was also impacted by the strains affecting 

G R O U P  I N T E R I M  M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O RT

REPORT OF TH E FI RST HALF YEAR  I  37



global trade in the first half of 2021. Silvan’s product offering was directly impacted by the challenging shipping 
container situation in Asia. Moreover, markets were stressed by rising commodity prices, especially for com-
modity-intensive product segments. 

Significant factors affecting business performance
The company generated lower revenues in the first half of 2021 than in the corresponding period of 2020. 
 However, the impact on earnings was limited by targeted cost savings and government support. Additional 
operational measures such as the implementation of new price strategies and other marketing concepts also 
generated substantial cost savings and positive EBITDA effects. 

Besides continuing to implement ongoing projects, the company has defined additional initiatives to ensure 
 optimal long-term business performance and fundamentally modernize and expand its existing stores. The new 
city flagship store that opened in Aarhus in early December 2020 with its newly developed customer experience 
concept generated better than planned earnings despite the high expectations.

In the first quarter of 2021, the existing store in Fisketorvet (Copenhagen) was completely renovated in line with 
the new customer experience concept and reopened in April 2021. The renovation of the existing store in Vejle, 
which began in the first quarter of 2021, is proceeding according to plan even as the store continues to operate 
during the renovation. Moreover, the addition of parcel delivery to the service offering has clearly exceeded the 
management’s expectations. Finally, additional measures have been implemented to improve the company’s CO₂ 
footprint and also offer more climate-friendly products to customers.

Outlook
Although Silvan expects that demand will remain high in the second half of the 2021 financial year, this expecta-
tion is particularly dependent on the development of overall economic conditions and the further course of 
the coronavirus pandemic and the possible countermeasures to be imposed by the Danish government. In order 
to be well prepared for this eventuality, Silvan will consistently pursue further measures to digitalize its business 
processes. 

The price increases resulting from the strained situation of the raw materials market can still be passed on to 
customers at the present time. In order to counteract the potentially still strong demand for shipping containers 
in Asia, Silvan is already much more actively engaged in planning for the next 2022 financial year. Growth- 
promoting measures such as the opening of additional urban stores and the modernization and reorientation of 
existing stores are already in the planning or implementation phase and should be gradually implemented in the 
further course of the 2021 financial year. Efficiency-enhancing measures in the areas of human resources, logistics, 
business relationship and process optimization should improve the company’s profit margins. The management 
expects that the EBITDA for the full year 2021 will be slightly below the level of the previous year particularly as a 
result of the lockdown in January and February 2021. The management intends to further extend Silvan’s strong 
market position.
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IDEAL SHOPPING DIRECT

Company
Ideal Shopping Direct is a multi-channel home shopping provider in the United Kingdom. It has been part of 
the AURELIUS Group since July 2018. The company purchases, designs and sells lifestyle products, as well as 
 do-it-yourself and craft supplies, to more than 735,000 customers (as of 2020) via different interactive sales 
channels such as TV shopping, social media, online shops and live events. Ideal Shopping Direct operates its 
own four channels, Ideal World, Ideal Extra, Create & Craft, and Create & Craft Extra, which distribute TV con-
tent in the United Kingdom. Create & Craft also distributes TV content in the United States and via Amazon 
Marketplace. 

Ideal Shopping Direct celebrated the 20th anniversary of its founding in 2020, making it one of the oldest 
 providers in the British teleshopping market. 

Structure and organization
Ideal Shopping Direct has its headquarters in Peterborough/United Kingdom and is staffed by a team of almost 
600 employees. The company designs, produces and broadcasts its TV programs and ships its products to end 
customers from its headquarters in Peterborough. The company also operates locations in Elland and Clay 
Cross in northern England. After the acquisition by AURELIUS, both the senior management team and the busi-
ness divisions were restructured to better meet the challenges of the market. The company is led by a CEO with 
the support of an Operating Board that oversees procurement and merchandising, marketing, production and 
broadcasting, as well as various back-office functions.

Market environment
The retail market environment in the United Kingdom is still challenging. Competition pressure remains intense: 
There are currently about ten teleshopping channels in the United Kingdom. In the home shopping market, Ideal 
Shopping Direct’s Create & Craft channel is the clear market leader for craft supplies while Ideal World is the 
 number two in sales of general merchandise.

Current developments 
Under the roof of AURELIUS, Ideal Shopping Direct has expanded its supplier base by more than 30 new and 
 former manufacturers of craft supplies. This has reduced the company’s dependence on private-label brands. 
Thanks to the resumption of business relationships with earlier suppliers, improved direct marketing and the 
trend towards online sales, which was further strengthened by the coronavirus crisis, nearly 8,000 earlier custom-
ers were reactivated and more than 11,000 new customers were acquired during the first half of 2021. 

Ideal World has cooperated with Independent Television (ITV), the biggest independent TV channel in the United 
Kingdom, since 2019, using up to three late-night hour broadcast slots each night. This collaboration, which con-
tinues in the current year, steers new suppliers and customers to Ideal World. Similar partnerships with other 
channels are under development. Ideal World is also testing shorter airtimes, allowing for more variety and a 
faster-paced presentation. 

After completing the test phase in 2020, Ideal Shopping Direct is now using a payment solution called Openpay, 
which enables customers to pay for purchased products in up to twelve monthly installments without interest. 
This has increased sales of higher-value items and improved liquidity. 
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To protect Ideal Shopping Direct against possibly declining TV viewer numbers in the future, it is planned to con-
vert the company into a primarily online provider. To this end, the company has started a central online market-
place, albeit with a limited number of suppliers at this stage. However, a new ERP system that is currently under 
development will make it possible to easily and quickly onboard major suppliers with strong brands. The company 
therefore expects significant growth in the coming years. 

Significant factors affecting business performance
The collaboration with ITV lasted throughout 2020 and is set to continue throughout 2021 and beyond. The 
lockdown due to the coronavirus pandemic created positive sales conditions as many people ceased commut-
ing and had more time available to watch TV and partake in hobbies. These advantages enabled the company 
to generate record sales in 2020. The first half of 2021 was also especially strong due in particular to the contin-
uation of the lockdown in the UK. 

Outlook
The sales of traditional retailers had been declining even before the outbreak of the coronavirus pandemic while 
online vendors experienced rising sales. This trend is likely to continue in the future and Ideal Shopping Direct is in 
a good position to benefit from this trend despite declining TV viewership numbers. 

The further development of the online marketplace is an exciting prospect for the coming years. In addition, the 
company has launched a new digital streaming studio airing specific content to support online marketing and put 
the company’s products in front of a younger audience who tend to not watch traditional linear TV. 

NDS GROUP

Company
The NDS Group is Norway’s second-biggest wholesaler of automotive parts. The company offers a portfolio of 
parts, shop equipment and services to a customer base that includes independent auto repair shops, car dealer-
ships and local wholesalers. In addition, the NDS Group offers repair shop concepts under its own AutoMester 
brand and concepts for third-party customers such as Bosch Car Service, for example. The division that had for-
merly belonged to the Hella Group was acquired by AURELIUS in December 2018. As part of its growth strategy, 
the company acquired Sola Shipping AS, one of the leading distributors of marine chemicals and boat care 
 products in Norway, as an add-on acquisition in December 2020.

Structure and organization
The company has its headquarters in Hagan near Oslo/Norway and operates a central warehouse there, as well as 
more than 20 branches located throughout the country. The management team is composed of a CEO, a CFO, a 
CCO and a COO.

Market environment
The base of relevant automobiles for the independent spare parts market (more than four years old) continues to 
grow at a modest rate. The Norwegian spare parts market is mainly stable, but will change in the short to  medium 
term as a result of consolidation and in the short term due to the rising share of electric vehicles. Market consoli-
dation can be observed in the original supplier spare parts market (Original Equipment Suppliers, OES) and in the 
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independent spare parts market. In the OES channel, dealership chains are generating rising revenues whereas 
smaller car dealerships are increasingly going bankrupt. In the independent spare parts market, national repair 
shop chains and repair shops with multiple locations are experiencing strong growth and increasingly driving 
smaller repair shops out of business.

Current developments 
The NDS Group achieved revenue growth of more than 20 percent in the first half of 2021. Given that this 
growth rate is well above the market growth rate, the company also increased its market share consider-
ably. In addition to the newly signed long-term supply agreements, last year’s add-on acquisition of Sola 
Shipping contributed to the strong growth. The NDS Group secured additional long-term supply agree-
ments in the first half and therefore expects that growth will continue in the coming years. 

The restructuring program implemented after the acquisition also contributed to enhanced profitability 
due to company’s lean, customer-focused organization. The share of private label products which the NDS 
Group purchases directly from Asia was significantly expanded, resulting in increased product profitabil-
ity. Moreover, the competitive private label program is a key factor for winning new customers. The 
add-on acquisition Sola Shipping was completely integrated into the NDS Group in less than three months 
and so the Group is already benefitting from substantial synergies.

Significant factors affecting business performance
The market grew modestly despite the very strict restrictions on travel to Norway and various other 
measures to combat the pandemic. This growth can be attributed in part to the growing percentage of 
older vehicles and in part to the unusually cold winter months. The marine market registered substan-
tial growth due to the higher number of recreational boats last year resulting from increased domestic 
tourism. The spare parts market was adversely affected by the general decrease in mobility resulting 
from the pandemic containment efforts, including the higher number of people working from home. 
On the other hand, the market benefitted from the increased use of privately owned cars instead of 
public mass transit. In some cases, the coronavirus situation delayed deliveries of repair shop equip-
ment (for newly built repair shops) and products purchased from Asia. 

Outlook
Thanks to the newly signed long-term supply agreements last year, which have not yet been fully acti-
vated, and the supply agreements signed in the first half of 2021, the NDS Group anticipates consistently 
high growth. The modernization of the company’s IT infrastructure and the launch of a modern B2B  online 
shop have enhanced the company’s attractiveness for major customers. The company therefore expects 
to sign additional long-term supply agreements in the second half of this year. The steadily growing share 
of private label products and the streamlined organization will increase the company’s profitability 
 further.
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BMC BENELUX

Company
BMC Benelux is a leading chain of construction materials stores in the B2B sector in Belgium. With a market share 
of about three percent, the company is among the top 5 players in a highly fragmented market. BMC Benelux pri-
marily serves small and medium-sized construction industry customers with its two brands YouBuild and MPro. 
The retail chain has a dense network of stores throughout Belgium, a broad range of products and an excellent 
service offering including services such as delivery, custom cutting and specialty tool rentals. BMC Benelux has 
belonged to AURELIUS since October 2019.

Structure and organization
Headquartered in Brussels/Belgium, BMC Benelux currently operates 17 stores in the greater metropolitan area 
of the Belgian capital and in the regions of West Flanders and Hennegau. BMC Benelux also operates its own 
logistics company to deliver goods to customers. The management team consists of a CEO, a Finance Director, a 
Procurement  Director and three Regional Managers in charge of Sales and Operations.

Market environment
The Belgian market for construction materials is stable and growing at an annual rate of one to two percent. The 
business is subject to seasonal fluctuations, with demand peaking in spring and autumn, and weather-dependent 
demand fluctuations. Mild winters or warm summers lengthen the construction season. International vendors 
are steadily withdrawing from the fragmented market and putting their businesses up for sale. In some cases, 
family-owned enterprises encounter problems with finding suitable successors. This circumstance gives rise to 
additional opportunities for growth through add-on acquisitions for BMC Benelux. 

Current developments 
The spread of the coronavirus has been substantially limited by increasing vaccinations and the stay-at-home or-
ders in effect in Belgium into April 2021. Construction activity that had been postponed in 2020 was made up in 
the spring of 2021. For these reasons, both the revenues and the EBITDA of BMC Benelux exceeded expectations in 
the first quarter. The positive trend continued in April and June. Only in May did revenues fall short of expecta-
tions due to the unexpectedly protracted inclement weather conditions. Even in May, however, the company 
achieved its earnings target thanks to the cost improvement measures completed in 2020. The profit margin 
benefitted additionally from the consistent orientation to small businesses, the expansion of product lines in the 
company’s online shop and the specialty tool rentals offered at two locations. However, the planned opening of 
new locations was postponed to the third quarter of 2021 due to delayed permit procedures. 

Significant factors affecting business performance
The company’s business performance in 2021 was driven by pent-up demand. The looming merchandise availabil-
ity bottlenecks resulting primarily from global supply chain disruptions and the revival of economic activity were 
mitigated by targeted procurement policies. Serious merchandise availability bottlenecks affecting some mer-
chandise categories such as insulation materials, cement, metals and wood are also expected in the third quarter 
of 2021. However, the company does not expect that EBITDA will be materially affected by this situation given that 
merchandise availability is assured by long-established supplier relationships and higher prices can be passed on 
directly to customers. 

G R O U P  I N T E R I M  M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O RT

42 I   REPORT OF TH E FI RST HALF YEAR



Outlook
The company anticipates a further increase in both revenues and EBITDA in the full 2021 financial year. This expec-
tation is grounded in the order backlog for large-scale projects and the consistently strong demand for private 
home renovation work. BMC Benelux will maintain its fundamental strategic focus on small and medium-sized 
customers, accompanied by an excellent offering of products and services and a dense store network. The com-
pany expects that previously delayed store openings will take place in the second half of 2021. In addition, the 
current activities aimed at add-on acquisitions will begin to yield positive results.

NEDIS 

Company
Nedis is a Dutch importer and wholesaler of consumer electronics and household appliances in the categories of 
connectivity (including adapters, charging cables, connectors and computer accessories), seasonal products 
(portable air-conditioning devices, fans and fan heaters), kitchen appliances, entertainment (loudspeakers, radios, 
headphones) and smart home products. The company has belonged to the AURELIUS Group since March 2020. 

The products are offered both under the Nedis brand and as white label products in nearly all countries of West-
ern Europe. Traditionally, regular electronics retailers and big-box stores are important customer segments, 
 although the share of online vendors in the customer base of Nedis has grown steadily in the last few years.

Structure and organization
Headquartered in ‘s-Hertogenbosch/Netherlands, Nedis maintains its own procurement organization in Asia and 
its own distribution center, which also offers drop-shipping service for online merchants in certain markets. With 
this kind of online selling, a merchant can offer products without having to keep them in stock itself.

The management team is composed of a CEO, a Head of Category Development and Procurement, a Sales 
 Director, a Head of Marketing and E-Commerce and a Head of IT and Operations.

Market environment
Nedis operates in the market for technical consumer goods. According to Statista, the volume of the relevant 
 European market for Nedis, home electronics, was EUR 260 billion in 2019. Statista also expects that the European 
market for household appliances will grow on average by 6.6 percent per year to nearly EUR 31 billion in 2025. 
 According to Statista, the consumer electronics market will grow at an annual rate of 4.5 percent to reach EUR 88 
billion in 2025.

Current developments 
Despite the protracted lockdowns imposed to combat the coronavirus, Nedis increased its revenues considera-
bly compared to the previous year in some sales markets. There are many different reasons for the revenue 
 increase. There are many different reasons for the revenue increase. First, Nedis offers numerous products for 
the coronavirus-induced trends of stay@home and work@home such as electronic devices and accessories 
required for setting up a home office. Smart home products and app-control products (Internet of Things, IoT) 
are seeing especially strong growth. Sales of such products are 70 percent higher than in the first half of last 
year. 
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The completed rebranding of the Nedis brand is yielding positive results. The revenue increase over the compara-
ble year-ago period is fully attributable to higher sales of Nedis-brand products, as sales of other brands  declined 
due to the focus on the company’s own brand. The revenue increase was achieved primarily in the Benelux home 
market and in Scandinavia, especially Denmark. Higher revenues were likewise generated in online marketplaces. 
The revenues generated in this channel in the first half of 2021 were 42 percent higher than the corresponding 
year-ago figure. The revenue-driven profit margin increase was accompanied by strict control of other costs, lead-
ing to a substantial increase in operating EBITDA compared to the first half of last year. 

Significant factors affecting business performance
The company had to contend not only with deferred sales due to the coronavirus pandemic, but also procure-
ment issues in the first half of 2021. The considerably higher freight rates and reduced availability of shipping 
containers from Asia have challenged the company’s procurement activities to an unprecedented degree. 
 Depending on the merchandise category, container rates have led to substantially higher procurement costs. Due 
not only to container availability problems, but also production capacity and commodity availability issues, the 
company has had to reschedule orders from Asia on a near-daily basis.  

Outlook
The procurement situation in Asia will drive up prices for consumer electronics products in Europe. Given that this 
situation will affect the overall market, Nedis is confident that it will be able to implement the planned price 
 increases in the second half of 2021 and should therefore be able to at least stabilize, if not even increase its gross 
profit. The demand for home office products is expected to remain high. Without a doubt, the demand for elec-
tronic devices to beautify and facilitate living at home is highly dependent on the further course of the corona-
virus pandemic. All things considered, however, Nedis is confident of being able to support the positive overall 
trend.

DISTRELEC

Company
Distrelec is a Europe-wide multi-channel trading company specializing in the digital sales and shipping of elec-
tronics parts and measurement devices. The company has more than 150,000 active customers in 14 countries of 
Europe. The company’s value creation and customer experience are based on its highly efficient logistics center, 
regional, customer-focused sales organization and multi-language e-commerce platform. Distrelec has belonged 
to the AURELIUS Group since March 2020.

Structure and organization
Headquartered in Manchester/United Kingdom, the company is led by two managing directors. Besides the 
European sales organization in 14 countries, the central service center in Riga/Latvia and the logistics center in 
‘s-Hertogenbosch/Netherlands are the main pillars of the company’s infrastructure.
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Market environment
The general level of demand was exceedingly strong in the first half of 2021. Whereas the company encountered 
subdued demand in the first two months of the year due to the effects of the third wave of the coronavirus pan-
demic, general market demand improved significantly throughout the European distribution region beginning in 
March. A recent customer survey and an industry barometer confirm the positive outlook for the second half of 
this year and the coming year.

Current developments 
Distrelec was extraordinarily successful in the first half of 2021. Revenues were about ten percent higher than in 
the first half of last year and EBITDA also exhibited a positive development. In addition to the generally positive 
development of the market, the latest customer survey confirms a significant improvement of the customer 
 experience and revenues per customer. The comprehensive efficiency enhancement and cost savings program is 
yielding positive long-term effects. 

Significant factors affecting business performance
The successfully implemented performance improvement program “Back to the Digital Future” has been a major 
contributor to the company’s exceedingly positive business performance. The unrelenting pursuit of operational 
excellence in all stages of the customer experience and the digitalization of central, customer-focused processes 
have significantly improved the company’s variable cost structure. The company also increased its profit margin 
significantly thanks to improved procurement terms and more efficient price management. Another positive 
 factor was the improved exchange rate against the Swiss franc, which will have the effect of stabilizing the com-
pany’s business performance in the second half of the year.

Outlook
The senior management and staff expect the company’s positive business performance to continue in the second 
half of the year thanks to rising demand and the significant improvement of customer-focused processes. Inter-
nally, the company will continue its digitalization efforts and its comprehensive sales optimization project as the 
foundation for increasing sustainable growth via customer-focused multi-channel sales in all regions and 
 customer segments. The re-opening of the headquarters in Manchester and the lifting of work-from-home rules 
after 15 months are planned for early September. The company plans to fill open positions on the senior manage-
ment level by the end of the year. The senior management and staff expect that the new appointments will have 
an additional positive effect on the company’s performance and corporate culture. 
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CO-INVESTMENTS

The successful closing of the AURELIUS European Opportunities IV Fund was announced in April 2021. The fund 
has received investment commitments totaling EUR 350 million from a group of institutional investors. The inves-
tors include US and European university endowments, pension funds, insurance companies and family offices. 
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA will additionally invest up to EUR 150 million together with the fund. 
This makes a total of EUR 500 million available for investments in the European midmarket sector.

With the fund, AURELIUS can continue its proven strategy of investing in group spin-offs and companies in trans-
formation processes in the European midmarket sector. The fund aims to make equity investments of up to EUR 
100 million in companies headquartered in Europe. This is another important milestone for AURELIUS and offers 
additional sustainable value creation opportunities for its stakeholders. The fund represents a new development 
step for AURELIUS.

As of the reporting date of June 30, 2021, the co-investments include the Advanced Power Solutions Group (for-
merly: Panasonic Consumer Batteries Europe) and SSE Contracting Limited. Both acquisitions were completed in 
June 2021 and are recognized as co-investments under financial assets in the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

ADVANCED POWER SOLUTIONS (FORMERLY: PANASONIC CONSUMER BATTERIES 
 EUROPE)

Company
Advanced Power Solutions (formerly: Panasonic Consumer Batteries Europe) is one of the leading companies in 
the European market for consumer batteries. Having operated in this market since 1970, it has a long tradition of 
manufacturing excellence. The company’s key products include alkaline and zinc-carbon batteries, rechargeable 
Ni-MH batteries and specialty batteries. The company sells its products under the Panasonic and Eneloop brands. 
It also makes products for private-label brands and original equipment manufacturers, which enables the com-
pany to maintain a continuously high level of capacity utilization. This acquisition was the first transaction 
conducted under the newly established co-investment program of AURELIUS.

Structure and organization
The company is organizationally divided into three separate entities: a distribution center located close to  Brussels 
and two production facilities in Belgium. The company’s products are sold in more than 50 countries via the 
 Europe-wide distribution network consisting of a primary team in Belgium and smaller teams in eight other 
 European countries.

Market environment
The market for consumer batteries is characterized by steady growth. Duracell, Energizer and Varta are the main 
competitors in this contested market. Despite the burden of high shipping costs, Asian competitors are working 
very hard to gain market shares. The private-label business is steady, but has declined slightly as a result of the 
coronavirus pandemic.
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Current developments 
The demand for batteries was boosted by the coronavirus pandemic in the first half year of 2021 as people spent 
more time at home and used battery-powered devices to a greater degree. This development is reflected in the 
revenues and earnings of Advanced Power Solutions, which exceeded the year-ago figures and budget targets.

Significant factors affecting business performance
Supply bottlenecks in China had negative impact on competitors but a positive impact on the company’s order 
volume. In addition to the already mentioned positive effects of the coronavirus pandemic on the company’s 
sales volumes, the company also registered especially strong growth in the retail segment on a wholesale basis 
and in direct e-commerce sales. The higher share of sales of Panasonic und Eneloop brand products was another 
positive factor.

Outlook
The revenue forecast for the second half of 2021 is based on an expectation of steady growth. On the cost side, 
however, the company’s earnings could be adversely affected by two distinct developments. First, the market 
prices of some raw materials are currently rising and are not expected to recover in 2021. Second, shipping costs 
are steadily increasing. To counter these developments, the company has announced a price increase that will 
take effect before the battery season in the winter months. Moreover, the company plans to implement cost 
 reduction measures in the second half of 2021. 

SSE CONTRACTING LIMITED

Company
SSE Contracting Limited is a leading contracting business in the UK and Ireland. It provides engineering, instal-
lation and maintenance services in the five specialties of Mechanical & Electrical, Lighting, Rail, Electrical & 
 Instrumentation and High Voltage for a diverse customer base, including blue-chip companies and public 
 sector entities. The acquisition of SSE Contracting Ltd., which was completed in June 2021, was the second 
transaction conducted under the co-investment program.

Structure and organization
The five specialties are managed by five different business units (Regional Operations, Lighting, Rail, Large Pro-
jects and E&I and High Voltage). Each business unit is led by a separate director who reports to the Executive 
Board. The company’s operations in Ireland are managed by a wholly owned subsidiary, Airtricity Utility Solutions 
Ltd, which is included in the Regional Operations business unit.

Market environment
Several macroeconomic developments are key to the sectors in which SSEC operates. The British government has 
made commitments to infrastructure spending, including the high-speed rail line HS2, and has set the goal of re-
ducing net CO2-emissions to zero by 2050, affecting both the Large Projects and Regional Operations business 
units. These initiatives entail a significant shift in British power market towards renewable and local generation, 
which affects the high-voltage market in particular. Moreover, the British government is increasingly subsidizing 
electrical vehicles and the development of an adequate charging infrastructure. Local governments have also set 
carbon reduction targets and are converting street lighting networks to LED technology. The company already has 
a strong and growing presence in the petrochemicals market. Moreover, the Electrical & Instrumentation busi-
ness unit is well positioned to take advantage of opportunities in the pharmaceuticals market.
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Current developments 
Thanks to the economic recovery after the end of the lockdowns and the seasonal nature of the company’s 
 business, SSEC increased its revenues in the first half of 2021. 

Significant factors affecting business performance
The company’s business has been severely impacted by the coronavirus pandemic particularly given that the 
management decided not to make use of the government-subsidized short-time work program. Thus, the compa-
ny’s earnings were adversely affected by the coronavirus crisis in the financial year ended March 31, 2021. 

Outlook
The company is clearly focused on restoring profitability by implementing efficiency enhancement and cost 
 reduction programs. The company is also working to separate itself from the systems and processes by which it 
is  still intertwined with the SSE Group, particularly by implementing a new, industry-leading ERP system.  
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE, CASH FLOWS AND  
FINANCIAL POSITION 

Financial performance

AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA increased its consolidated revenues by 29 percent to EUR 1,309.5 
million in the first half of 2021 (H1 2020: EUR 1,018.0 million). The increase resulted mainly from the group compa-
nies acquired in the second half of 2020 and first half of 2021, which are now included in the consolidated financial 
statements for the first time.

The determining date for the first-time consolidation or inclusion of a subsidiary in the consolidated financial 
statements is the transaction closing date because this is when complete control of the company is attained. The 
revenues and earnings of subsidiaries acquired during the year are only included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date of first-time consolidation. Therefore, they are included only at a pro-rated basis.

The annualized consolidated revenues of the AURELIUS Group (i.e. extrapolated to the full twelve months) 
amounted to EUR 2,736.1 million (H1 2020: EUR 1,989.3 million).

Four corporate groups were acquired in the first half of 2021. HÜPPE GmbH, a leading European supplier of bath-
room equipment, was acquired as a new platform investment in late May 2021. 

The following corporate groups were acquired as add-on acquisitions to strengthen existing group companies. 
The Conaxess Trade Group acquired the Movement Group in late March of the current financial year. Also in late 
March 2021, BPG Building Partners Group acquired GSB Gerüstbau. Finally, AutoRestore as an affiliate of the  British 
company Rivus Fleet Solutions was acquired in late March 2021. 

The investment focus of AURELIUS was expanded in the first half of 2021 to include larger transaction volumes 
conducted under the newly launched co-investment program. As the first co-investment, the acquisition of 
 Panasonic’s European consumer battery business (now: Advanced Power Solutions) was completed in early June 
2021. The acquisition of SSE Contracting Limited, a leading contracting business providing mechanical and electri-
cal engineering services in the United Kingdom, from SSE plc. was completed in late June 2021. Both acquisitions 
are accounted for as co-investments within the line item of financial assets in the consolidated statement of 
 financial position. Because AURELIUS exerts no control over any of these co-investments according to the defini-
tion of IFRS 10, they are not (fully) consolidated. 

The AURELIUS subsidiary Office Depot Europe sold its Italy business to the French investor group Bruneau in March 
2021. The Contract business segment in the United Kingdom and Ireland was sold to the strategic buyer OT Group 
in June 2021. This transaction is expected to close in the third quarter of 2021. As part of the strategic decision to 
consolidate the businesses, negotiations are currently being conducted with various investors to sell the re-
maining activities of Office Depot Europe. Office Depot Europe was therefore reclassified to discontinued 
operations as of 30 June 2021.

The companies sold before the reporting date are no longer included in revenues and earnings in the first half 
of  2021 and in the comparison figures from the first half of 2020. The comparison figures were adjusted in 
 accordance with the provisions of IFRS 5 (accounting rules for noncurrent assets held for sale and discontinued 
operations). 
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In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 8, individual companies are attributed to different operating segments 
for purposes of the segment report. Key indicators for the individual segments Industrial Production, Services & 
Solutions and Retail & Consumer Products, as well as discontinued operations, are presented in Note 4 of the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Other income declined to EUR 50.3 million (H1 2020: EUR 175.5 million). This figure includes bargain purchase gains 
in the amount of EUR 0.6 million (H1 2020: EUR 145.0 million). 

Purchased goods and services rose by 27 percent to EUR 811.0 million (H1 2020: EUR 638.4 million). Thus, the 
 purchased goods and services ratio came to 62 percent in the first half of 2021 (H1 2020: 63 %). Personnel expenses 
amounted to EUR 289.3 million, as compared to EUR 216.2 million in the first half of last year, indicative of a 34 per-
cent increase. The personnel expenses ratio came to 22 percent in the first half of 2021 (H1 2020: 21 %).

Other expenses rose by 13 percent to EUR 174.6 million (H1 2020: EUR 154.5 million).

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) amounted to EUR 90.2 million, that being 
less than the year-ago figure (H1 2020: EUR 187.6 million). This decrease is attributable to the much lower bargain 
purchase gains of EUR 0.6 million (H1 2020: EUR 145.0 million). 

Depreciation, amortization and impairments of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment amounted 
to EUR 57.2 million, that being eight percent higher than the corresponding figure for the first half of 2020 (EUR 
53.0 million). Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) came to EUR 33.0 million (H1 2020: EUR 134.6 million).

After deduction of the financial result of minus EUR 9.7 million (H1 2020: EUR -13.1 million) and income taxes of 
minus EUR 7.6 million (H1 2020: EUR -4.5 million), the profit from continued operations came to EUR 15.7 million in 
the first half of 2021 (H1 2020: EUR 117.0 million).

The profit/loss from discontinued operations amounted to EUR 14.6 million (H1 2020: EUR -1.6 million). The con-
solidated profit amounted to EUR 30.3 million (H1 2020: EUR 115.4 million). Undiluted earnings per share from 
continued and discontinued operations came to EUR 1.04 (H1 2020: EUR 3.48).

Financial position

At the reporting date of June 30, 2021, the total assets of the AURELIUS Group amounted to EUR 2,164.7 million, 
indicative of a modest six percent decline from the comparison figure (December 31, 2020: EUR 2,307.9 million). 
The changes in the individual balance sheet items are mainly due to changes in the scope of consolidation of 
AURELIUS, first-time consolidations of new Group companies and deconsolidation of sold Group companies.

At EUR 739.0 million, non-current assets were 13 percent lower than the corresponding figure at the end of the 
2020 financial year and accounted for 34 percent of total assets (December 31, 2020: EUR 844.3 million and 37 % of 
total assets). This figure includes intangible assets in the amount of EUR 101.4 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 
143.7 million). These mainly consist of trademarks, industrial property rights, order backlogs, technologies, capital-
ized research and development expenses and customer relationships. At EUR 311.4 million, property, plant and 
equipment were little changed from the corresponding figure at December 31, 2020 (EUR 309.6 million). Right- of-
use assets amounted to EUR 259.8 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 314.9 million). Financial assets declined by 
twelve percent to EUR 11.5 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 13.1 million). Assets from employee benefits rose 
modestly by six percent to EUR 21.8 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 20.6 million). The deferred tax assets of EUR 
33.1 million were 22 percent less than the corresponding figure at December 31, 2020 (EUR 42.4 million). 
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Current assets declined modestly by three percent to EUR 1,425.7 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 1,463.6 mil-
lion). Inventories fell by eleven percent to EUR 385.2 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 431.6 million). The trade 
 receivables of EUR 330.0 million were 14 percent less than the comparison figure (December 31, 2020: EUR 385.2 
million).  Income tax assets increased modestly by one percent to EUR 3.8 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 3.7 
million). Other financial assets declined by 35 percent to EUR 77.8 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 120.0 million). 
The other assets of EUR 47.2 million were 13 percent less than the corresponding figure at December 31, 2020 
(EUR 54.1 million).

Cash and cash equivalents amounted to EUR 272.1 million, as compared to EUR 422.9 million at December 31, 2020.

The assets held for sale of EUR 274.8 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 0 million) are solely assets of Office Depot 
Europe. 

The equity of the AURELIUS Group rose by two percent to EUR 500.2 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 492.0 million). 
This corresponds to an equity ratio of 23 percent (December 31, 2020: 21 %).

Non-current liabilities fell markedly by 20 percent to EUR 527.1 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 660.7 million). This 
item includes non-current pension obligations of EUR 33.8 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 22.8 million) and provi-
sions of von EUR 6.1 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 18.0 million). It also includes financial liabilities of EUR 153.2 
million, which were 17 percent less than the comparison figure (December 31, 2020: EUR 184.2 million), lease liabil-
ities of EUR 238.0 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 340.1 million), other financial liabilities of EUR 25.1 million 
 (December 31, 2020: EUR 24.2 million), deferred tax liabilities of EUR 43.7 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 46.1 mil-
lion) and other liabilities of EUR 26.0 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 24.0 million). 

The current liabilities of EUR 1,137.4 million were nearly unchanged from the corresponding figure at December 31, 
2020 (EUR 1,155.2 million). Current provisions declined by 15 percent to EUR 31.0 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 36.4 
million). Current financial liabilities fell markedly by 46 percent to EUR 109.1 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 202.5 
million). The trade payables of EUR 408.5 million were ten percent less than the corresponding figure at December 
31, 2020 (EUR 455.9 million). Income tax liabilities amounted to EUR 7.5 million, as compared to EUR 11.6 million at 
December 31, 2020. Other liabilities declined markedly by 43 percent to EUR 182.7 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 
319.1 million). 

The liabilities held for sale in the amount of EUR 294.3 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 0 million) likewise relate to 
Office Depot Europe. 

Cash flow

The cash flow from operating activities of the AURELIUS Group in the first half of 2021 amounted to EUR 84.6 mil-
lion (H1 2020: EUR 25.4 million). The change is mainly due to the strong operating performance of the Group com-
panies in the first half of 2021.

Cash flow from investing activities amounted to minus EUR 49.5 million (H1 2020: EUR -6.4 million). It mainly in-
cludes payments for the companies acquired in the first half of 2021, less acquired cash and cash equivalents in 
the amount of EUR 18.9 million (H1 2020: EUR -22.5 million) as well as payments for investments in non-current 
assets amounting to EUR 39.9 million (H1 2020: EUR 21.1 million). 

Free cash flow reached EUR 35.1 million, compared to EUR 19.0 million in the first half of 2020.
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Cash flow from financing activities was minus EUR 174.6 million in the first half of 2021 (H1 2020: EUR -39.5 million). 
It includes cash outflows of EUR 89.2 million from the repayment of short-term financial liabilities (H1 2020: cash 
outflows of EUR 43.4 million) and cash outflows from the repayment of non-current financial liabilities in the 
amount of EUR 73.6 million (H1 2020: cash inflows from the borrowing of non-current financial liabilities in the 
amount of EUR 4.9 million) as well as cash outflows from dividend payment of EUR 28.7 million (H1 2020: EUR 0 
million).

Employees

As of the reporting date of 30 June 2021, the number of employees in the AURELIUS Group was 12,609 (December 
31, 2020: 12,059). Of these, 6,372 were salaried employees and 6,237 were wage earners in the AURELIUS Group.
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CO N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  CO M P R E H E N S I V E  I N CO M E

GROUP INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA  
for the period from January 1 to June 30, 2021

in mEUR Notes 1/1 - 6/30/2021 1/1 - 6/30/2020*

Continued operations

Revenues 2.1 1,309.5 1,018.0

Change in inventories of finished and unfinished goods 5.3 3.2

Other income 2.2 50.3 175.5

Purchased goods and services  -811.0 -638.4

Personnel expenses  -289.3 -216.2

Other expenses 2.3 -174.6 -154.5

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
 amortization (EBITDA)

90.2 187.6

Amortization, depreciation and impairments of intangible 
assets and property, plant and equipment and right-of-use 
assets

-57.2 -53.0

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 33.0 134.6

Other interest and similar income 0.9 1.0

Interest and similar expenses -10.6 -14.1

Net financial income/expenses -9.7 -13.1

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 23.3 121.5

Income taxes -7.6 -4.5

Profit/loss after taxes from continued operations 15.7 117.0

Discontinued operations

Profit/loss from discontinued operations  14.6 -1.6

Consolidated profit/loss 30.3 115.4

Other comprehensive income/loss 
(to be recognized in profit or loss in the future)

Currency translation differences 6.3 -21.8

Other comprehensive income/loss 
(not to be reclassified in profit or loss in the future)

Revaluation IAS 19 0.9 -4.2

Other comprehensive income 7.2 -26.0

Comprehensive income/loss 37.5 89.4
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CO N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  CO M P R E H E N S I V E  I N CO M E

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

continued

in mEUR 1/1 - 6/30/2021 1/1 - 6/30/2020*

Share of consolidated profit/loss attributable to:

Shareholders of the parent company  29.7 101.8

Non-controlling interests 0.6 13.6

 

Share of comprehensive income/loss attributable to:

Shareholders of the parent company  36.9 75.8

Non-controlling interests 0.6 13.6

Earnings per share

Basic in EUR

from continued operations 0.53 3.54

from discontinued operations 0.51 -0.06

Total from continued and discontinued operations 1.04 3.48

Diluted in EUR

from continued operations - / - 3.31

from discontinued operations - / - -0.05

Total from continued and discontinued operations - / - 3.26

*  The prior-year consolidated statement of comprehensive income was adjusted for comparison purposes in accordance with the 
 provisions of IFRS 5.
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CO N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA at June 30, 2021

ASSETS

in mEUR Notes 6/30/2021 12/31/2020

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 3.1 101.4 143.7

Property, plant and equipment 3.2 311.4 309.6

Right-of-use assets 3.3 259.8 314.9

Employee benefits assets 21.8 20.6

Financial assets 3.4 11.5 13.1

Deferred tax assets 33.1 42.4

Total non-current assets 739.0 844.3

Current assets

Inventories 385.2 431.6

Trade receivables 330.0 385.2

Income tax assets 3.8 3.7

Other financial assets 77.8 120.0

Other assets 47.2 54.1

Derivative financial instruments 0.0 0.1

Deferred expenses 34.8 46.0

Cash and cash equivalents 272.1 422.9

Assets held for sale 274.8 - / -

Total current assets 1,425.7 1,463.6

Total assets 2,164.7 2,307.9
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CO N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
continued

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

in mEUR 6/30/2021 12/31/2020

Equity

Subscribed capital 30.5 29.5

Additional paid-in capital - / - - / -

Other reserves -73.5 -80.7

Retained earnings 515.2 515.2

Share of equity attributable to shareholders of 
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA

472.2 464.0

Non-controlling interests 28.0 28.0

Total equity 500.2 492.0

Non-current liabilities

Pension obligations 33.8 22.8

Provisions 6.1 18.0

Financial liabilities 153.2 184.2

Lease liabilities 238.0 340.1

Contract liabilities 1.2 1.3

Other financial liabilities 25.1 24.2

Deferred tax liabilities 43.7 46.1

Other liabilities 26.0 24.0

Total non-current liabilities 527.1 660.7

Current liabilities

Pension obligations 0.7 0.0

Provisions 31.0 36.4

Financial liabilities 109.1 202.5

Lease liabilities 38.9 73.3

Contract liabilities 54.7 46.7

Trade payables 408.5 455.9

Income tax liabilities 7.5 11.6

Derivative financial instruments - / - 0.1

Deferred income 10.0 9.6

Other liabilities 182.7 319.1

Liabilities held for sale 294.3 - / -

Total current liabilities 1,137.4 1,155.2

Total equity and liabilities 2,164.7 2,307.9
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CO N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  C H A N G E S  I N  E Q U I T Y

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2020

in mEUR Other reserves
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January 1, 2020 30.5 10.0 417.5 2.0 -41.9 418.1 10.0 428.1

Comprehensive income/loss

Consolidated profit/loss for the period - / - - / - 104.8 - / - - / - 104.8 16.8 121.6

Other comprehensive income

Revaluation IAS 19, net after taxes - / - - / - - / - - / - -27.5 -27.5 - / - -27.5

Currency translation differences - / - - / - - / - -13.3 - / - -13.3 - / - -13.3

Comprehensive income/loss - / - - / - 104.8 -13.3 -27.5 64.0 16.8 80.8

Equity transactions with shareholders

Dividend - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -

Changes in shareholdings in subsidiaries that do 
not lead to a loss of control 

- / - - / - -0.3 - / - - / - -0.3 1.1 0.8

Changes in shareholdings in subsidiaries that lead 
to a loss of control 

- / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - 0.1 0.1

Treasury shares -1.0 - / - -16.8 - / - - / - -17.8 - / - -17.8

Convertible bonds - / - -10.0 10.0 - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -

Non-controlling interests through 
company  acquisitions 

- / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -

December 31, 2020 29.5 - / - 515.2 -11.3 -69.4 464.0 28.0 492.0
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CO N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  C H A N G E S  I N  E Q U I T Y

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA for the period from January 1 to June 30, 2021

in mEUR Other reserves
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January 1, 2021 29.5 - / - 515.2 -11.3 -69.4 464.0 28.0 492.0

Comprehensive income/loss

Consolidated profit/loss for the period - / - - / - 29.7 - / - - / - 29.7 0.6 30.3

Other comprehensive income

Revaluation IAS 19, net after taxes - / - - / - - / - - / - 0.9 0.9 - / - 0.9

Currency translation differences - / - - / - - / - 6.3 - / - 6.3 - / - 6.3

Comprehensive income/loss - / - - / - 29.7 6.3 0.9 36.9 0.6 37.5

Equity transactions with shareholders

Dividend - / - - / - -28.7 - / - - / - -28.7 - / - -28.7

Changes in shareholdings in subsidiaries that do 
not lead to a loss of control - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - -0.6 -0.6

Changes in shareholdings in subsidiaries that lead 
to a loss of control - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -

Treasury shares 1.0 - / - -1.0 - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -

Convertible bonds - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -

Non-controlling interests through 
company  acquisitions - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -

June 30, 2021 30.5 - / - 515.2 -5.0 -68.5 472.2 28.0 500.2
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CO N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  C A S H  F LOW S

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA for the period  
from January 1 to June 30, 2021

in mEUR 1/1 - 6/30/2021 1/1 - 6/30/2020*

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 23.3 121.5

Profit/loss from discontinued operations 14.6 -1.6

Gains on bargain purchases -0.6 -145.0

Gains (-) / losses (+) on deconsolidations 0.7 -86.5

Amortization, depreciation and impairments of intangible assets and 
depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

57.2 53.0

Increase (+)/ decrease (-) in pension obligations and other provisions -11.2 15.8

Gains (-) / losses (+) on disposal of property, plant and equipment -4.5 -1.7

Gains (-) / losses (+) on disposal of non-current financial assets 2.5 - / -

Gains (-) / losses (+) on currency translation -3.6 -0.3

Net financial income/expenses 9.7 13.1

Interest received 1.4 0.9

Interest paid -13.1 -9.6

Income taxes paid -1.6 -1.3

Gross cash flow 74.8 -41.7

Change in working capital and other items

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in inventories 20.0 24.9

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in trade receivables and other assets -2.2 50.6

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in trade payables and other liabilities -24.0 -47.4

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in other items of the statement of financial position 16.0 39.0

Cash flow from operating activities (net cash flow) 84.6 25.4
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CO N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  C A S H  F LOW S

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

continued

in mEUR 1/1 - 6/30/2021 1/1 - 6/30/2020*

Cash inflows (+) / cash outflows (-) from the acquisition of shares  
in subsidiaries including cash acquired

-18.9 -22.5

Cash inflows (+) / cash outflows (-) from the sale of subsidiaries less cash sold - / - 32.2

Proceeds from sales of non-current assets  9.3 5.0

Payments for investments in non-current assets  -39.9 -21.1

Cash flow from investing activities -49.5 -6.4

Free cash flow 35.1 19.0

Cash inflows from the borrowing (+) / cash outflows for the repayment (-) 
of current financial liabilities 

-89.2 -43.4

Cash inflows from the borrowing (+) / cash outflows for the repayment (-) 
of non-current financial liabilities 

-73.6 4.9

Sale (+) / purchase (-) of treasury shares - / - -17.9

Cash inflows (+) / cash outflows (-) from transactions with  
non-controlling interests  

-0.6 2.0

Decrease (+) / increase (-) in restricted cash 0.9 5.7

Decrease (-) / increase (+) of cash and cash equivalents shown under  
assets held for sale in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 5

16.6 9.2

Dividend of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA -28.7 - / -

Cash flow from financing activities -174.6 -39.5

Effects of currency fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents 6.2 -6.0

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 398.0 422.0

Change in cash and cash equivalents -139.5 -20.5

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 264.7 395.5

Cash and cash equivalents subject to restrictions on disposal 23.9 16.5

Cash and cash equivalents shown under assets held for sale in  
accordance with the provisions of IFRS 5 

-16.5 -17.5

Cash and cash equivalents as per Statement of Financial Position 272.1 394.5

*  The prior-year consolidated statement of cash flows was adjusted for comparison purposes in accordance with the provisions of      
IFRS 5.
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S E L E C T E D  N OT E S

SELECTED NOTES:

1.1 Recognition and measurement principles

The recognition and measurement methods applied in the past financial year were also applied without changes 
in the preparation of the present group interim financial statements for the first half of 2021. Irregular expenses 
incurred during the financial year are only considered or accrued in the same way they would be considered or 
accrued in the annual financial statements at December 31, 2021.

Due to rounding, numbers presented may not add up precisely to totals provided.

1.2 Unusual matters

No significant matters occurred that would influence the assets, liabilities, equity, period profit/loss or cash flows 
and would be unusual for the business of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA by reason of their nature, 
extent or frequency.

1.3 Changes of estimates made in prior financial statements

No changes were made to the estimates made in prior financial statements.

1.4 Changes in the consolidation group of AURELIUS

The following changes occurred in the basis of consolidation of AURELIUS in the first half of 2021:

On March 31, 2021, the Conaxess Trade Group acquired the Swedish Movement Group from private owners in an 
add-on acquisition. The Movement Group, based in Malmö/Sweden, is one of Sweden’s leading distributors of 
FMCG products and supplies grocery shops, convenience stores, sports and leisure retailers as well as foodservice 
providers with products from renowned brand suppliers. The company offers customised services in logistics and 
distribution, marketing, key account management and sales support.

On March 31, 2021, AutoRestore, based in Rushden, Northamptonshire/United Kingdom, was acquired as an 
add-on acquisition by Belron International Limited. AutoRestore, a leading provider of mobile accident repair ser-
vices in the UK, is an ideal complement to Rivus Fleet Solutions and Pullman Fleet Solutions, both of which offer 
commercial vehicle fleets with a focus on light commercial vehicles and trucks respectively. AutoRestore now 
operates a fleet of over 130 mobile repair vehicles and completes more than 30,000 repair jobs annually for B2B 
customers, including insurers and fleet management companies, and is also steadily expanding its B2C offering.

Also in the end of March 2021, BPG Building Partners Group acquired the business operations of GSB Gerüstbau 
Bobenheim-Roxheim GmbH. The acquisition of GSB Gerüstbau is part of BPG Building Partners Group’s growth 
strategy and further increases its market coverage in Germany. Thanks to its many years of experience and high 
quality standards, GSB Gerüstbau is a reliable partner for demanding construction projects in the Rhine-Neckar 
and Rhine-Main regions. The range of services includes facade scaffolding, room scaffolding, slab scaffolding, 
suspended scaffolding and construction hoists. The company has an attractive regional market position market 
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position and long-standing customer relationships with commercial and public clients. GSB Gerüstbau will be 
 integrated into the BPG Building Partners Group as an independent subsidiary.

On May 31, 2021, AURELIUS acquired HÜPPE GmbH, based in Bad Zwischenahn, from Masco Corporation. HÜPPE is 
one of Europe’s leading manufacturers of shower partitions, shower trays, wall cladding and bathroom accesso-
ries. and bathroom accessories. The good development despite the ongoing Corona pandemic reflects, on the one 
hand on the one hand, the trend towards upgrading the bathroom area by the end consumer and, in particular, 
also the trend towards replacing bathtubs with more sustainable and barrier-free shower areas. HÜPPE stands 
stands for innovation, quality and customer service and is ideally positioned to participate in this.

On March 22, 2021, Office Depot Europe sold its Italian business to the strategic investor Bruneau. The Bruneau 
Group is a leading B2B online retailer of office supplies and equipment based in near Paris. With this step, Office 
Depot Europe is completely withdrawing from the fragmented Italian market. market. This transaction is already 
the second sale of a division of Office Depot to the French to the French Bruneau Group, following the successful 
sale of the Spanish Direct business unit business in the summer of 2020.

In the first half of 2021, the investment focus of AURELIUS was expanded to include larger transaction vol-
umes to be acquired by way of the newly established co-investment program. The first such co-investment 
was the acquisition of Panasonic’s European consumer battery business (now: Advanced Power Solutions), 
which was completed in early June 2021. The acquisition of SSE Contracting Limited, a leading contractor 
for  mechanical engineering and electrical engineering services in the United Kingdom, from SSE plc. was 
completed end of June 2021. Both acquisitions are accounted for as co-investments within the line item of 
financial assets in the consolidated balance sheet. Because AURELIUS does not control any of the co-invest-
ments according to the definition of IFRS 10, these investments are not (fully) consolidated. 

2. Selected notes to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

2.1 Revenues

in mEUR 1/1 - 6/30/2021 1/1 - 6/30/2020

Revenues from sales of goods 1,104.4 857.4

Revenues from sales of services 205.1 160.6

Total continued operations 1,309.5 1,018.0

Discontinued operations 349.6 610.0

Total revenues 1,659.1 1,628.0

in mEUR 1/1 - 6/30/2021 1/1 - 6/30/2020

Germany 201.4 137.1

Europe - European Union 521.1 684.5

Europe - Other 443.1 103.8

Third countries 143.9 92.6

Total continued operations 1,309.5 1,018.0

Discontinued operations 349.6 610.0

Total revenues 1,659.1 1,628.0

REPORT OF TH E FI RST HALF YEAR  I  63



2.3 Other expenses

in mEUR 1/1 - 6/30/2021 1/1 - 6/30/2020

Freight and transport costs 35.6 27.2

Marketing and commissions 23.1 24.6

Consulting expenses 21.3 20.5

Administration 21.1 16.9

Buildings and machinery 20.5 18.7

Office expenses 18.3 14.6

Expenses from exchange rate changes 6.4 6.3

Personnel leasing 3.9 3.4

Costs charged by third parties 3.8 - / -

Miscellaneous expenses 20.6 22.3

Total continued operations 174.6 154.5

Discontinued operations 81.3 141.5

Total other expenses 255.9 296.0

2.2 Other income

in mEUR 1/1 - 6/30/2021 1/1 - 6/30/2020

Exchange rate changes 10.0 3.6

Claims for damages 4.9 - / -

Disposal of non-current assets 4.6 9.3

Internal production capitalized 1.7 2.1

Charging of costs to third parties 1.6 0.8

Derecognition of liabilities 1.1 0.3

Gains on bargain purchases 0.6 145.0

Reversal of provisions 0.5 0.3

Deconsolidations 0.1 - / -

Miscellaneous income 25.2 14.1

Total continued operations 50.3 175.5

Discontinued operations 42.1 94.3

Total other income 92.4 269.8
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3. Development of fixed assets

3.1 Intangible assets

in mEUR
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Acquisition or production cost 
Balance at January 1, 2020 121.7 23.6 181.6 0.9 327.8
Discontinued operations - / - -3.4 -9.4 - / - -12.8
Continued operations 121.7 20.2 172.2 0.9 315.0
Changes in the basis of consolidation 1.6 17.7 28.8 - / - 48.1
Additions 13.2 - / - 12.4 1.0 26.6
Disposals -6.0 - / - -4.6 -0.2 -10.8
Reclassifications 0.2 - / - -0.2 - / - - / -
Currency effects -4.2 - / - -3.4 -0.1 -7.7
Balance at December 31, 2020 126.5 37.9 205.2 1.6 371.2
Discontinued operations -89.8 - / - -37.6 - / - -127.4
Continued operations 36.7 37.9 167.6 1.6 243.8
Changes in the basis of consolidation - / - 8.8 0.1 - / - 8.9
Additions 4.5 - / - 3.2 2.5 10.2
Disposals -0.1 - / - -5.8 -0.4 -6.3
Reclassifications 0.3 - / - 1.6 -1.9 - / -
Currency effects - / - - / - 3.4 - / - 3.4
Balance at June 30, 2021 41.4 46.7 170.1 1.8 260.0

Amortization and impairments
Balance at January 1, 2020 -44.9 -3.4 -108.5 - / - -156.8
Discontinued operations - / - 3.4 6.8 - / - 10.2
Continued operations -44.9 - / - -101.7 - / - -146.6
Changes in the basis of consolidation -13.7 - / - -24.6 - / - -38.3
Additions -21.0 -17.6 -11.6 - / - -50.2
Impairments (IAS 36) 4.7 - / - 0.3 - / - 5.0
Disposals -0.3 - / - 0.3 - / - - / -
Currency effects 1.4 - / - 1.2 - / - 2.6
Balance at December 31, 2020 -73.8 -17.6 -136.1 - / - -227.5
Discontinued operations 43.2 - / - 34.7 - / - 77.9
Continued operations -30.6 -17.6 -101.4 - / - -149.6

Additions -1.0 - / - -11.8 - / - -12.8
Impairments (IAS 36) - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -
Disposals - / - - / - 5.4 - / - 5.4
Currency effects 0.1 - / - -1.7 - / - -1.6
Balance at June 30, 2021 -31.5 -17.6 -109.5 - / - -158.6

Carrying amount at December 31, 2020 52.7 20.3 69.1 1.6 143.7

Carrying amount at June 30, 2021 9.9 29.1 60.6 1.8 101.4
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3.2 Property, plant and equipment

in mEUR
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Acquisition or production cost
Balance at January 1, 2020 23.7 95.4 111.7 97.5 20.0 348.3
Discontinued operations -0.1 -5.5 -4.8 -5.0 -0.1 -15.5
Continued operations 23.6 89.9 106.9 92.5 19.9 332.8
Changes in the basis of consolidation 15.5 42.4 63.5 6.9 0.4 128.7
Additions 3.2 11.8 4.9 10.7 12.4 43.0
Disposals -2.7 -16.8 -15.8 -16.4 -9.5 -61.2
Reclassifications 0.6 1.7 3.5 2.3 -8.1 - / -
Currency effects -0.7 -2.7 -5.3 -1.2 -0.5 -10.4
Balance at December 31, 2020 39.5 126.3 157.7 94.8 14.6 432.9
Discontinued operations -2.0 -15.2 -4.8 -12.5 -3.4 -37.9
Continued operations 37.5 111.1 152.9 82.3 11.2 395.0
Changes in the basis of consolidation 1.3 8.7 2.0 6.1 0.1 18.2
Additions - / - 2.4 11.5 10.6 5.2 29.7
Disposals -0.5 -0.8 -3.0 -1.4 -1.1 -6.8
Reclassifications 1.9 -1.7 4.9 0.1 -5.2 - / -
Currency effects 0.6 2.0 5.6 0.7 0.4 9.3
Balance at June 30, 2021 40.8 121.7 173.9 98.4 10.6 445.4

Depreciation and impairments
Balance at January 1, 2020 -2.1 -20.0 -41.1 -37.6 -0.8 -101.6
Discontinued operations - / - 0.4 1.7 1.9 0.1 4.1
Continued operations -2.1 -19.6 -39.4 -35.7 -0.7 -97.5
Acquisitions -0.2 -8.8 -20.0 -17.5 - / - -46.5
Impairments (IAS 36) - / - - / - -8.9 -3.0 - / - -11.9
Disposals - / - 5.0 15.2 9.4 - / - 29.6
Reclassifications - / - - / - -0.2 0.2 - / - - / -
Currency effects - / - 0.3 2.3 0.4 - / - 3.0

Balance at December 31, 2020 -2.3 -23.1 -51.0 -46.2 -0.7 -123.3

Discontinued operations - / - 1.5 2.1 9.0 0.5 13.1
Continued operations -2.3 -21.6 -48.9 -37.2 -0.2 -110.2
Acquisitions - / - -3.5 -12.5 -7.3 - / - -23.3
Impairments (IAS 36) - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -
Disposals - / - 0.5 1.7 0.6 - / - 2.8
Reclassifications - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -
Currency effects - / - -0.3 -2.7 -0.3 - / - -3.3

Balance at June 30, 2021 -2.3 -24.9 -62.4 -44.2 -0.2 -134.0

Carrying amount at December 31, 2020 37.2 103.2 106.7 48.6 13.9 309.6
Carrying amount at June 30, 2021 38.5 96.8 111.5 54.2 10.4 311.4
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3.3 Right-of-use assets

in mEUR Right-of-use assets

Acquisition or production costs 
Balance at January 1, 2020 476.3
Discontinued operations -10.5
Continued operations 465.8
Changes in the basis of consolidation 40.1
Additions 50.5
Disposals -49.7
Currency effects -7.0
Balance at December 31, 2020 499.7
Discontinued operations -160.3
Continued operations 339.4
Changes in the basis of consolidation 3.6
Acquisitions 43.2
Disposals -27.2
Currency effects 4.9
Balance at June 30, 2021 363.9

Depreciation and impairments

Balance at January 1, 2020 -77.8
Discontinued operations 10.6
Continued operations -67.2
Additions -76.7

Impairments (IAS 36) -51.8

Disposals 9.5
Currency effects 1.4
Balance at December 31, 2020 -184.8
Discontinued operations 90.5
Continued operations -94.3
Additions -21.0
Impairments (IAS 36) - / -
Disposals 12.3
Currency effects -1.1
Balance at June 30, 2021 -104.1

Carrying amount at December 31, 2020 314.9
Carrying amount at June 30, 2021 259.8
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5. Significant contingent liabilities, guarantees and legal disputes

The following significant guarantees and contingent liabilities were in effect at the reporting date of June 30, 
2021:

In connection with the sale of the SECOP Group that was completed in late July 2017, AURELIUS Equity Opportuni-
ties SE & Co. KGaA assumed joint and several liability for certain obligations of the seller related to possible 
 warranty claims of the buyer, possible claims of the buyer under the tax indemnification, possible claims of the 
buyer related to any refund claims under the financial purchase price determination mechanism, and possible 
claims related to indemnification of certain matters. In the meantime, the obligations related to possible claims 
of the buyer based on the breach of regular warranties and possible claims of the buyer with respect to any 
 refund claims under the financial purchase price determination mechanism have expired due to the passage of 
time. Any claims with respect to indemnification for certain matters that are limited to an amount of approxi-
mately EUR 11.7 million may only be asserted for five years after the transaction closing date. The joint liability for 
claims for tax indemnification is subject to a limitation period of either six months after the legally binding 
 assessment or after expiration of the assessment period.

In connection with the sale of Getronics that was completed in early July 2017, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE 
& Co. KGaA was required to assume guarantee obligations for certain obligations of the seller related to possible 
warranty claims of the buyer, possible claims of the buyer under the tax indemnification, possible claims of the 
buyer with respect to any refund claims due to impermissible transfers, possible claims under the indemnification 

4. Segment revenues, EBITDA and EBIT for the period from January 1 to June 30, 2021

in mEUR Services & 
Solutions

Industrial 
Production

Retail & 
Consumer 

Products

Other AURELIUS 
Group

Revenues 195.8 353.3 678.8 81.6 1,309.5

Discontinued Operations - / - - / - 349.6 - / - 349.6

EBITDA 15.9 34.5 53.8 -14.0 90.2

Discontinued Operations - / - - / - 33.9 - / - 33.9

EBIT 4.0 18.7 28.2 -17.9 33.0

Discontinued Operations - / - - / - 18.2 - / - 18.2

3.4 Financial assets

3.4.1 Other investments 
The total amount of EUR 9.1 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 5.8 million) mainly includes an equity investment of 
the Conaxess Trade Group in the amount of EUR 5.8 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 5.8 million) as well as an 
 investment in AURELIUS Investment Lux One SARL in the amount of EUR 3.3 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 0 
million). Furthermore, this item includes an investment of Building Partners Group in the amount of EUR five 
thousand (December 31, 2020: EUR 5 thousand).

3.4.2 Other long-term-loans 
The total amount of EUR 2.4 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 7.3 million) mainly consists of long-term loans at 
 Silvan in the amount of EUR 2.4 million (December 31, 2020: EUR 2.4 million).
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for certain matters, and possible claims due to the breach of post-contractual obligations. In the meantime, the 
guarantee obligation for any claims related to impermissible transfers and for possible warranty claims of the 
buyer that do not relate to fundamental warranties have expired due to the passage of time. All other claims 
to which the guarantee obligation pertains are subject to a limitation period of five years after the transaction 
closing date.

Effective November 26, 2018, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA acquired the Mannheim-based VAG 
from the U.S. Rexnord Group through its indirect subsidiary AURELIUS Alpha Invest DS GmbH. AURELIUS Equity 
Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA assumed a financing obligation vis-a-vis the Rexnord Group, under which it under-
took to endow AURELIUS Alpha Invest DS GmbH with sufficient capital to pay the purchase price and satisfy other 
precisely defined obligations.

Effective September 5, 2019, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA sold SOLIDUS. In this connection, 
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA made an independent guarantee undertaking in the purchase 
agreement to guarantee any payment obligations of the seller related to possible impermissible transfers, the 
existence of payment claims of the AURELIUS Group against SOLIDUS after the closing date, or the breach of 
 fundamental warranties under the purchase agreement. Guarantee claims of the buyer become time-barred at 
the latest 84 months after the closing date of the purchase agreement.

In December 2019, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA acquired ZIM Aircraft Seating (previously: ZIM 
Flugsitz) through its subsidiary AURELIUS Development Seventeen GmbH. AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & 
Co. KGaA assumed a financing obligation vis-a-vis the seller under which it undertook to provide the buyer with 
sufficient capital to pay the purchase price and satisfy other, specifically defined claims. 

Effective May 31, 2021, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA acquired Hüppe GmbH and its subsidiaries 
from Masco Germany Holding GmbH through a subsidiary. In the share purchase agreement, AURELIUS Equity 
Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA guaranteed the fulfilment of certain indemnification obligations of the buyer. 
The indemnification obligations relate to claims that are asserted (i) after the closing date against the seller or its 
affiliates for repayment of shareholder loans made prior to closing or (ii) after the closing date against the seller or 
its affiliates for repayments of shareholder loans made after the closing date or distributions to the buyer and its 
affiliates in the context of any insolvency of Hüppe GmbH. The guarantee under (i) is limited to an amount of EUR 
1.7 million, the guarantee under (ii) is limited to the amount received by the purchaser or its affiliated companies. 
The guarantees expire on May 31, 2024.

As part of the newly launched co-investment programme, the acquisition of the European consumer battery 
 division from Panasonic Europe B.V. (now: Advanced Power Solutions) was completed on June 4, 2021. As part of 
the acquisition, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA has given a payment commitment for payments 
from the purchase price adjustment mechanism on the closing date and for subsequent purchase price elements. 
The payment commitment is limited to a total amount of EUR 20.6 million for all investors and will expire no later 
than October 5, 2024. The economic risk from the payment commitment is shared with the co-investing compa-
nies in proportion to their shares in the acquisition.

Legal disputes
With respect to the two companies Old BCA Ltd. and Book Club Trading Ltd., AURELIUS is exposed to the risk of 
continuing liability for pension obligations based on mistakes made during the implementation of the pension 
fund in the 1990s. The amount varies and could possibly reach an amount in the middle single-digit millions. 
Rectification proceedings are currently being carried out by the companies before a British court through 
which the past mistakes should be rectified. AURELIUS considers the prospects for success to be good overall. 
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6. Events after the reporting date

On July 5, 2021, AURELIUS announced the acquisition of the aluminium precision tubing business from Norsk Hy-
dro Group. The acquired business currently employs more than 180 people and generated revenues of approxi-
mately EUR 50 million in 2020. The aluminium precision tubing business operates an integrated and circular plant 
in Lichtervelde, Belgium. From this production site the company supplies customers in more than 30 countries 
globally with a strong focus on Western Europe. The company has a long-standing reputation for high quality 
products and service delivery. Total demand for aluminium products has a long-term trend of stable growth, and 
the company is well positioned to benefit from the increase of automated production at its customers. The trans-
action is expected to be completed in the third quarter of 2021.

S E L E C T E D  N OT E S

A claim for payment of an amount in the low-double digit millions is being asserted against AURELIUS Equity 
Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA and three additional defendants by the insolvency administrator of a former com-
pany of the Getronics Group as joint and several debtors. The defendants unanimously assume that it will be 
possible to successfully defend against the suit based on numerous factual and legal grounds.

The insolvency administrator of ACC Compressors S.p.A. is demanding payment of damages from two former 
Group companies for allegedly anti-competitive behavior. The claim is for an amount in the low double-digit 
millions. This legal dispute was won in the first instance, the The other party has filed an appeal. At the present 
time AURELIUS assumes that the appeal will be unsuccessful. appeal will remain unsuccessful.

In connection with its general business activities, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA was otherwise 
a party to various legal disputes as of the reporting date, but none of them is to be considered material in terms 
of the risks or amounts involved. As in the previous year, therefore, no provisions for other legal disputes were 
recognized in 2021.
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